ESTIMATING COOL SEASON ANNUAL GRASS FORAGE BIOMASS USING

UAV AND GROUND BASED TECHNOLOGY

A Dissertation

by

BRYAN EDWIN SIMONEAUX

Submitted to the Office of Graduate and Professional Studies of Texas A&M University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Chair of Committee,	Amir Ibrahim		
Co-Chair of Committee,	Clark Neely		
Committee Members,	Nithya Rajan		
	Sorin Popescu		
	Don Renchie		
Head of Department,	David Baltensperger		

December 2020

Major Subject: Agronomy

Copyright 2020 Bryan Edwin Simoneaux

ABSTRACT

Many research institutions conduct annual forage trials to determine which species and varieties of those species produce the most biomass in specific geographical areas. These trials can be costly, time consuming and labor intensive to conduct. A cool-season annual grass forage trial was conducted at the Texas A&M Research Farm during the 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 growing seasons. This forage trial tests small grains species such as wheat, oat, rye, triticale, and barley in addition to annual ryegrass. The purpose of this research was to determine if Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) technology or other ground-based sampling methods could replace traditional forage harvesting techniques. The ultimate goal of this project was to develop a low cost and effective method to measure above ground forage biomass.

If researchers are unable to take destructive samples, both visual and plant height measurements were highly correlated for fall and late spring clips. Combining all measurements of the traditional methods into one model to predict forage yield may be a better way to estimate forage yield if the whole plot forage harvest is not possible. In the UAV and ground-based methods no one variable showed a strong relationship across all clip times or species. Models were developed for each species and clip time to better predict forage yield using multiple variables. In some cases, the models did improve the coefficient of determination (R^2) substantially, but in many cases, improvement was marginal. The ground model did as good as or better than the aerial model for wheat, oat, barley and the combined model, whereas the aerial model was far better for rye. There

was little to no difference between the ground and aerial models for ryegrass. Transforming the data also had little effect on model accuracy for wheat, oat and barley. However, transforming the data for rye had a negative effect while ryegrass and the combined species model were improved when the data was transformed.

The best results for evaluating multi species across clip times was the traditional method model created from visual rating, plant height and subsample weight. It seemed far better when evaluating a multi species trial to do so at specific times during the growing season as opposed to throughout the growing season. If only a single species is being evaluated, it seemed that species a specific method and clip time was ideal.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I have been blessed with many opportunities in my life with one of the greatest being the pursuit of a doctoral degree from Texas A&M University. This achievement would not have been possible without a great support team. I would first like to thank my committee chairs, Dr. Amir M.H. Ibrahim and Dr. Clark Neely, for providing me the opportunity to pursue my Doctoral Degree. I appreciate their time, patience and guidance over the past several years. Additionally, I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Nithya Ragan, Dr. Sorin Popescu and Dr. Don Renchie, all of whom have given me great direction through their many years of experience and expertise. I would also like to thank the other members of the Texas A&M Small Grains Research and Extension team including Daniel Hathcoat, Dr. Geraldine Opena, Dr. Brandon Gerrish, and Zach Schaefer. Finally, I would like to thank my mother and father, my Uncle Henry Soniat (Bucky) and my entire family for their continuous support. I would like to especially thank my wife Karina and our kids for their patience and support throughout this journey.

CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCES

Contributors

A dissertation committee consisting of Professor Amir Ibrahim (advisor), Assistant Professor Clark Neely (co-advisor), and Associate Professor Nithya Rajan (committee member) of the Department of Soil and Crop Sciences supervised this work. Professor Sorin Popescu (committee member) of the Department of Ecosystem Science and Management and Professor Don Renchie (special appointment committee member) Program Leader and Extension Specialist Texas AgriLife Extension Service were the other two members of the dissertation committee.

The information in Chapter II was collected with the help of Professors Ibrahim and Neely as well as Dr. Brandon Gerrish and Student Assistant Zach Shaffer of the Department of Soil and Crop Sciences. The protocols, data collection and analysis used in Chapter III were developed with the help of Professor Rajan and Dr. Mahindra Bhandari of the Department of Soil and Crop Sciences and Professor Popescu and Post Doctor Lonesome Malombo of the Department of Ecosystem Science and Management. The student completed all other work conducted for the dissertation independently.

Funding Sources

This work was made possible in part by the Texas Wheat Producers Board. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the Texas Wheat Producers Board.

Nomenclature

ADF	Acid Detergent Fibers
ADG	Average Daily Gain
HT	Plant Height
LAI	Leaf Area Index
NDF	Neutral Detergent Fibers
NDVI	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
NIR	Near Infra-Red
RCBD	Randomize Complete Block Design
RGB	Red Green Blue
RMSE	Root Mean Square Error
SUB	Sub-Sample
TDM	Total Dry Matter
TVI	Triangular Vegetation Index
UAV	Unmanned Aerial Vehicle
VI	Vegetation Index

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv
CONTRIBUTORS AND FUNDING SOURCESv
NOMENCLATUREvi
TABLE OF CONTENTSvii
LIST OF FIGURESix
LIST OF TABLESxi
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION AND REVIEW OF LITERATURE1
Forage Production in the United States: Types and Uses4Winter wheat4Rye
CHAPTER II COMPARING MECHANICAL HARVEST WITH ALTERNTIVE GROUND BASED METHODS FOR ESTIMATING FORAGE YIELDS IN COOL SEASON ANNUAL GRASSES
Introduction21Materials and Methods24Results and Discussion27Visual Rating27

Plant Height	31
Sub sample measurement	35
Prediction Model	39
Conclusion	41
CHAPTER III COMPARING NONDESTRUCTIVE AFRIAL AND GROUND	
METHODS OF ESTIMATING FOR AGE VIELD IN COOL SEASON ANNUAL	
GRASSES USING UAV VISUAL SPECTRUM REFLECTANCE INDICIES	
VISUAL EVALUATION AND PRIMATIVE NDVI METERS	42
	40
Introduction	42
Materials and Methods	47
Results and Discussion	51
UAV Flight Altitude	52
UAV and Ground Based Measurement Relationships with Forage Yield	53
UAV Measurements	53
Ground-Based Measurements	59
Prediction Models Aerial Method	62
Prediction Models Ground Based Method	70
Conclusions	82
CHAPTER IV CONCLUSIONS	86
REFERENCES	89
APPENDIX A	101

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Relationship between visual rating and total plot dry matter forage yield across clip times and species. Visual Rating was determined using a scale of 0-10, where zero equals no forage yield. Data was collected from a cool- season annual forage trial with six species and taken across four clip times [fall (November), mid-winter (January and February), early spring (March) and Late Spring (April)] during the 2016 and 2017 growing seasons in College Station, TX
Figure 2.2 Relationship between plant height and total plot dry matter forage yield for four clip times using data collected from a cool-season annual forage trial with six species and taken across four clip times [fall (November), mid- winter (January and February), early spring (March) and Late Spring (April)] during the 2016 and 2017 growing seasons in College Station, TX35
 Figure 2.3 Relationship between subsample dry weight and total plot dry matter forage yield across clip times and species. Data was collected from a cool-season annual forage trial with six species and taken across four clip times [fall (November), mid-winter (January and February), early spring (March) and Late Spring (April)] during the 2016 and 2017 growing seasons in College Station, TX.
Figure 2.4 A graphical representation of predicted forage yield compared to actual forage yield from a model developed using plant height (HT), visual ratings (VR) and subsample dry weights (SUB). Observations used in the model were collected from a cool-season annual forage trial with six species and taken across four clip times [fall (November), mid-winter (January and February), early spring (March) and Late Spring (April)] and the 2016 and 2017 growing seasons in College Station, TX40
Figure 3.5 Aerial method original and log transformed data Predicted vs actual yield data on a 1:1 line a) Wheat b) Oat c) Rye d) Ryegrass e) Winter Barley for original data, f) Wheat g) Oat h) Rye i) Ryegrass j) Winter Barley for log-transformed data
Figure 3.6 Validation of models for original and log transformed data using vegetative indices and plant height to predict actual yield based on clip time. Plots are assigned as a) Fall clip b) Mid-winter c) early Spring d) combined for original forage yield data and e) Fall clip f) mid-winter g) early spring h) combined for log transformed forage yield data. Solid line represents 1:1 line

Figure 3.7 Models developed to predict forage yield of cool-season annual grass	
species using ground measurements and comparing model performance	
using original data or log transformed data. Predicted forage yield is	
compared to actual yield data using a 1:1 (black) line for the following	
species: a) Wheat b) Oat c) Rye d) Ryegrass e) Winter Barley for original	
data and f) Wheat g) Oat h) Rye i) Ryegrass j) Winter Barley for log	
transformed data.	74
Figure 3.8 Models developed to predict forage yield of cool-season annual grass	
species using ground measurements and comparing model performance	
using original data or log transformed data. Predicted forage yield is	
compared to actual yield data using a 1:1 (black) line for the following clip	
times: a) Fall clip b) Mid winter c) early Spring d) combined for original	
data, e) Fall clip f) mid winter g) early spring h) combined for log	
transformed data.	76

LIST OF TABLES

 Table 2.1 Pearson Correlation coefficients and number of observations (n) between visual rating and dry matter forage yield for six species and four clip times in a cool season annual forage trial in College Station, TX across the 2016 and the 2017 growing season.
Table 2.2 Pearson Correlation coefficients and number of observations (n) between plant height and dry matter forage yield for six species and four clip times in a cool-season annual
Table 2.3 Pearson Correlation coefficients and number of observations (n) between sub sample dry weight and total plot dry matter forage yield for six species and four clip times in a cool season annual grass forage trial in College Station, TX across the 2016 and 2017 growing seasons
Table 3.1 List of vegetation indices used to predict forage yield of a cool season annual grass forage trial along with their respective abbreviations, formulas and sources
 Table 3.2 Pearson Correlation coefficients and number of observations (n) among vegetation indices, plant height, and hand held NDVI with dry matter forage yield for a cool-season annual grass forage trial in College Station, TX. Correlation coefficients for vegetative indices are shown at two flight heights (20 and 30 m) and combined across all varieties and species (wheat, oat, barley, rye, triticale, and ryegrass) in the trial.
Table 3.3 Correlation coefficients of original and log transformed data for plant height, R/G, r/g, MGRVI, RGBVI, ExG, and g/r with dry matter forage yield using visual reflectance data taken with a UAV at a 20m flight altitude. Measurements were taken three times (fall, mid-winter, early spring, and combined species) on a cool-season annual grass forage trial near College Station, TX during the 2017 seasons
Table 3.4 Correlation coefficients of original and log transformed data for visual rating, plant height, and hand held NDVI meter with dry matter forage yield. Measurements were taken three times (fall, mid-winter, early spring, and combined species) on a cool-season annual grass forage trial near College Station, TX during the 2017 seasons
Table 3.5 Original vs log transformed data of the aerial method for each species and clip time. 65

Table 3.6 Original vs	log transformed of	data of the groun	d method for ea	ach species and
clip time				72

Table 3.7 Coefficient of determination of original vs log transformed data for plant	
height, visual rating, hand held NDVI, R/G, r/g, MGRVI, RGBVI, ExG,	
and g/r individual variables compared to aerial and ground models	.79

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION AND REVIEW OF LITERATURE

There are many methods used to evaluate forage potential, some of the more traditional methods have been utilized for well over 50 years. However, in recent decades there has been an interest in developing more modern and efficient ways to evaluate forage potential. Having a good indication of how much yield potential a particular forage species and cultivar has is useful for livestock managers who rely on good forage production to meet the high demands of their forage systems. It is also important for researchers in forage and small grains breeding programs whom need good forage potential data for cultivar advancement. The United States (U.S.) is one of the largest forage producing nations in the world. According to the 2017 United States Department of Agriculture census, there were 55.7 million acres of land used for forage, which contributed to the sustainable nutritive needs of over 89.9 million cattle and calves. In the southern U.S., Texas is the largest forage producing state with over 5 million acres dedicated to forage production (USDA-NASS, 2018). In a 2016 national forage review, the USDA estimated that total forage production (all dry hay, haylage and green chop) is only down 1% to 90.7 million tons from the previous year (USDA-NASS, 2016).

In the southern U. S., the use of cool season annual grasses for forage is a common practice. Livestock producers have used cool season annual grasses for hay, silage, and pasture, and often times as an accompanying crop for alfalfa (*Medicago*

1

sativa L.) establishment. Cool season grasses offer producers valuable production and management alternatives as sources of forage, which utilize similar planting equipment and harvest management techniques as that of alfalfa. For example, small grains used for forage provide ample quality to meet the nutritional needs of most livestock (Maloney et al., 1999). Many livestock managers feed hay, silage or concentrates during the fall to early spring; however, this method can be expensive and greatly reduce any profit realized. One solution to this problem is for livestock managers in the southern U.S. to adapt a more cost effective annual cool-season forage system to feed their livestock (Redmon et al., 1998). The importance of predicting forage production yield can have a great effect on livestock management strategies and stocking rate. Historically this has been achieved through detailed record keeping of forage production, livestock performance, and livestock stocking rates (Redfearn and Bidwell, 2000). In addition, cool season forage researches would benefit greatly from the ability to select experimental lines for high biomass potential, which would aid in variety advancement. For researchers and producers alike, it is important to know which species and varieties of cool season grasses produce the most forage in a given geographical area. For this reason, many universities conduct annual forage trials to determine which species and varieties of those species produce the most biomass in specific geographical areas. The publications that result from these forage trials are aimed at giving unbiased yield and quality data to researchers and forage producers so they can make educated decisions regarding the most appropriate varieties for their geographic region (Neely et al., 2016).

Small grains forage trials can be costly, time consuming and labor intensive to conduct. As noted in past studies, the standard method of determining forage biomass is to clip and weigh the samples, which requires great effort and expense (Sanderson et al 2001). Recently Texas A&M AgriLife Research has been making efforts to incorporate Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAV) into determining cool season annual forage biomass. These vehicles utilize remote sensing imagery such as visual spectral images, which can obtain various vegetation indices.

The purpose of this research is to determine if UAV technology or other ground based sampling methods can replace traditional forage harvesting techniques to better assist cool-season annual grass breeders and researchers in estimating forage yield of entries in forage trials and breeding lines for advancement in breeding programs. The specific objectives are 1) to compare mechanically harvested above ground biomass yield of cool-season annual grasses with alternative forms of limited or non-destructive measurements to predict plot yield. 2) Determine at what height UAV measurements should be taken for measuring forage yield, 3) Compare relationships among UAV generated vegetation indices, hand held NDVI, plant height, and visual rating with dry matter forage yield across and between cool-season annual grass species. (4) Develop models to predict forage yield among cool-season annual grasses using UAV generated vegetation indices and ground based measurements. 5) Determine if models generated from UAV data are as reliable as models generated from ground-based measurements. The ultimate goal of this project is to develop a low cost and effective method to measure above ground forage biomass.

Forage Production in the United States: Types and Uses

In the southern U.S., cool-season annual grasses can extend grazing and supply high quality forage for livestock (Bagley et al., 1998). The least costly means of providing livestock winter forage would be perennial grasses, unfortunately there are currently no good cool-season perennial forage grass options well adapted to the south. This makes the use of cool season annual grasses the most common form of winter pasture (Corriher-Olson and Redmon, 2013). Some of the most common cool season annual forage species in the southern U.S. are small grains, which include wheat (*Triticum aestivum*), rye (*Secale cereal*), oats (*Avena sativa*) and triticale (*Triticum secale*) (Bruckner and Raymer, 1990). In addition to these more common southern species, barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) can produce good quality silage and hay similar to that of oats and triticale (Min, D.-H. 2012). Annual ryegrass (*Lolium multiflorum*) is not considered a small grain, but provides a source of high-quality winter and spring forage in the temperate regions of the world (Hill and Gates, 2001)

Winter wheat

Most cultivated winter wheat is an Allohexaploid bread wheat (T*riticum aestivum* L.), which makes up approximately 20% of all calories consumed by humans (Marcussen et al., 2014). In the Southern Great Plains, winter wheat grown for both forage and grain can be an extremely important source of income from both the sale of grain and in terms of weight gained by grazing livestock (Redmon et al., 1995). Wheat forage provides feed for cattle and sheep. The forage is low in fiber but high in protein, energy, and minerals. However, due to the high moisture content it can be difficult to

meet the daily dry matter needs of grazing animals (Duncan et al., 2018). Wheat pastures are an excellent feedstock, especially for young growing cattle. While protein and grain supplements are generally not necessary, an additional form of dry matter roughage is sometimes recommended to ensure ruminants receive enough fiber (Heeney and Stanton, 1988). Winter wheat pastures of the Great Plains provide grazing for millions of stocker cattle each year. If only grazed, the cattle will remain on wheat until May; however, dual-purpose wheat is typically grazed from November to mid-March (Mader et al., 1983). Careful considerations should be made on decisions of when to remove cattle from winter wheat as indicated in a study conducted by Dunphy et al. (1982) to determine the effects of wheat forage removal on grain yield. This study indicated that delaying the final forage harvest could significantly reduce grain yield. The study also suggests that grazing should be terminated by the early jointing stage or sooner to obtain maximum grain yields (Dunphy et al., 1982; Taylor et al., 2010).

Rye

Rye is in the same group *Triticeae* as wheat and barley. Of the total rye grown in the U.S. less than 50% is harvested for grain, the rest would be used for pasture, hay or a cover crop (Oelke et al., 1990). It is commonly grown in parts of Europe as a source of bread, alcohol and animal feed. Unlike most grain crops, rye is a cross-pollination cereal, which allows for greater genetic diversity (Monteiro et al., 2016). In the southern U.S. rye is an important forage crop for stocker cattle (Bos pp.) (Newell and Butler, 2013). Of all of the cool-season grasses, rye is the most winter-hardy and productive on poor soils. It matures earlier than most wheat varieties which results in more fall forage

than spring forage (Redmon et al., 1998; Snapp et al., 2005). A previous 1983 study by Hay and Abbas (1993) supported this observation and discovered that the earlier forage and higher yields of rye are due to many factors. These factors include rapid germination rates, crop emergence, leaf appearance and expansion in conjunction with a higher leaf area ratio. It was noted that the early initiation of the rye stem extension showed a significant increase in the total assimilation rate (Hay and Abbas, 1983). Rye has also contributed to the improvement of bread wheat by the chromosomal translocation of 1RS [Rye] chromosome. The 1BL/1RS chromosome from rye provided a race-specific disease resistance to a major rust race (Zarco-Hernandez et al., 2005).

Oat

Oats are grown for both human consumption and livestock grazing. Oats are commonly known for their high levels of beta glucan and the hypocholesterolemic properties of oat fiber that are now well-documented (Lia et al., 1995). Oats can be classed as either winter or spring with the main distinctions between the two classes being time of planting and the ability of winter oats to withstand cold temperatures (King and Bacon., 1992). As an annual forage, oats are very versatile and can be planted in both late summer and late winter for livestock grazing and hay production. One disadvantage of oat production is its lack of winter tolerance compared to other small grains (Redmon et. al., 1998). In the Great Plains region of the U.S., especially in the northern states, such as North Dakota, spring planted oats account for 80% of all cereals managed for hay production. South Dakota had almost 90% and Montana 50% of all cereal land, which was devoted to oat hay production (Carr et al., 2004). In the north central U.S., spring sown forage oats are a common companion crop to aid in the establishment of alfalfa. These oats are typically harvested in the early summer at boot stage for silage (Contereras-Govea, F.E. and Albrecht, K.A. 2006). In the southern U.S., oats are grown in the wintertime and provide excellent forage when other high protein sources are scarce (Schrickel et al., 1992). Oat phenotypic categories determine its use and adaptation. Oats can be considered spring or winter types; however, this is not a very clear distinction as they can have a wide range of vernalization and photoperiod dependence. There is some confusion on the terms of "winter type" and "winter hardy". When discussing a "winter type" of oat, the reference would indicate the proper planting time of that variety which would be in the autumn or winter. Many winter types do not have a vernalization requirement and could be planted in the spring. Several studies have attempted to examine the winter tolerance of oats, but it is not easily distinguishable as that of winter and spring wheat. In a study conducted by M. C. Amirshahi and Fred L. Patterson (1956) the researchers had to rely on uniform winter hardiness nursery trials to obtain winter tolerance information on the oat varieties for their trial (Amirshahi and Patterson., 1956). In a 1960, publication by Pfeifer and Kline the major limiting production factor of winter oats is the lack of winterhardiensss for climates with cold winters. The goal of the study was to develop an accurate laboratory technique for selection for winter hardy oats (Pfeifer and Kline., 1960). In the U.S., traditionally winter oat cultivars are grown in the South during the winter, and spring oat cultivars are grown in the Midwest during the spring. Some researchers have noted a possible cold treatment requirement for the induction of flowering (vernalization) which

could also be a factor in determining the type of oat. In a publication by King and Bacon 1992, they noted that a reduction in the number of days to heading of winter oat genotypes was attributed to a vernalization treatment and there was no reduction in the spring oat genotypes as a result of vernalization treatments. In the vernalized (24 day treatment) panicle emergence was reduced by 19 days compared to the non-vernalized treatment (King and Bacon., 1992). In addition there can be hulled and hull-less types which would determine their use (Kim et al., 2014). A 1960 published paper by Smith (1960) evaluated the chemical composition of forage oats in relation to their maturity. He found that with maturity the percentage of protein, fat, ash, P, Ca, K, and nitrate declined. He also noted that the early dough stage is when the highest proportion of total yield of the most important nutritional constitutes was produced (Smith, 1960). Collins et al. (1990) noted that nitrogen concentration decreased with later heading.

Triticale

Triticale (*Triticum secale*) is the result of a breeding cross between wheat (*Titicum*) and rye (*Secale*). The species received its name by combining the name of the two parent species involved in the cross. Triticale is similar to wheat in its pollination strategy as it is a self-pollinated crop as opposed to a cross-pollination species like rye (Oelke et al. 1989). Triticale could be a good source of winter grazing in areas of the U.S. that typically have mild winters (Brown and Almodares, 1976). Triticale is said to do well on sandy soils and has a better tolerance to low pH soils than that of wheat, but not quite as good as rye (Min, 2012). Triticale offers good versatility as a cereal grain and can be used as forage, grain and biofuel feedstock (AGMRC, 2017). In arid and

semi-arid regions of the world, triticale can out-yield wheat and barley for straw production, which is a major source of animal feed (Bilgili et al., 2009). A study done in Spain evaluated the dual-purpose possibilities of triticale and evaluated the effects of forage removal on grain yield. This study found that on irrigated sites or sites receiving adequate rainfall both good forage and grain yields could be obtained, however, on dryland or low rainfall sites forage cuttings would not be advised (Ramos et al., 1993). A study by A. J. Ciha (1983) evaluated forage production of triticale as compared to other spring grains. He found that in the Pacific Northwest, crude protein yield of triticale was similar to that of other spring grains under most planting dates and harvest stages (Ciha, 1983).

Ryegrass

In the U.S. there are two types of ryegrass: perennial (*Lolum perenne* L.) and annual (*L. multiflorum* La.). The perennial species is not utilized in the Southern U.S. due to poor adaptation; however, annual species are widely utilized in a forage-livestock system (Blount and Prine, 2000). In the southern U.S., annual ryegrass is considered a high-yielding nutritious grass and is the most widely grown of all cool season annual forage grasses. It is very responsive to N inputs and can tolerate wet, poorly drained soils (Vendramini et. al., 2006). Ryegrass tends to be better established under conventional tillage practices as opposed to no-till systems due to small seed size. Cuomo et al. (1999) emphasized this in a 1999 study, where it was concluded that early– season forage production is reduced when establishment took place on a no-till site verses a conventionally tilled site (Cuomo et al., 1999). As with most crops, nutritive value of ryegrass tends to decrease with maturity. This was emphasized in a 2002 publication that evaluated cultivar and environmental effects on annual ryegrass forage yield, yield distribution, and nutritive value. This study noted that crude protein levels decreased as the growing season progressed (Redfearn et al., 2002). In the lower Mid-West, there is an expressed interest in stockpiling annual ryegrass as a source of high-quality winter forage. Kallenbach et al. (2003) noted a decline in forage quality from mid-December to mid-February. However, the acid detergent fiber (ADF) and the neutral detergent fiber (NDF) remained at an acceptable level (Kallenbach et al., 2003)

Barley

Barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) is not as commonly utilized as a winter pasture in comparison to other small grains as it does not have the winter hardiness of wheat and rye. Barley does have its place in some winter pastures, such as those on alkaline soils that are high in saline content (Redmon et al., 1998). In most parts of the U.S., barley is typically used for malting and other feed sources for animals. There is promising research that suggests an expanded use of barley forage in states such as Texas is possible. Its lower preference as a host by Hessian fly (*Mayetiola destructor*), a significant insect pest of wheat, would be one advantage over wheat in certain regions of the state (Ledbetter, K. 2017). A 1986 study by Brink G.E. and Maren G.C evaluated the effects of barley and oat as a companion crop to alfalfa establishment. For spring-seeded alfalfa, both barley and oat were seeded as companion crops to alfalfa to assist in establishment. The study found that barley provided superior quality at various growth stages than that of oat, which is the traditional companion crop to alfalfa (Brink and

Marten, 1986). Barley as a solo crop can also be valued for its higher nutritive value as compared to other small grains cultivars such as wheat, oat and triticale as indicated in a 1982 study on the biological and chemical quality and yield of small grain forage potentials. This study also found that barley has less grass tetany potential as opposed to wheat, oat and triticale, but it did have a greater milk fever potential (Cherney and Marten, 1982).

In conclusion, wheat is the most popular small grain forage species planted in U.S. It has very good cold tolerance; seed is readily available in most geographic locations and it has great flexibility to be used as a dual-purpose crop for both grazing and grain. Rye, which has great early-season forage, particularly in southern climates, generally has more total forage than wheat also. However, one of the major drawbacks to planting rye is that it can become a major weed problem in areas where wheat is grown for grain. Oats, which have a tendency to produce the earliest season forage of any small grains, are also the least winter hardy. Triticale is the result of a cross between rye and wheat and has earlier maturity than wheat, but later than rye. Likewise, triticale generally produces more forage than wheat, but less than rye. Barley is not as commonly grown in the south due to its lower popularity among livestock producers and its seed sources can be difficult to find in some areas. Still, barley has exceptional tolerance of soils high in soluble salts or sodium and has better drought tolerance (Rohila et al., 2002).

11

The Importance of estimating forage potential

It is important for both producers and plant breeders to have a good assessment of forage production quality and quantity when evaluating potential forage species and varieties. Producers rely on accurate forage estimates to adjust cattle stocking rates and animal gains. Plant breeders also need accurate forage data to make determinations on genotype advancement for public release of forage cultivars.

Producers

For any producer involved with livestock, forage production is critical. A forage system can assist a livestock manager in some cases with an implementation of a yearround grazing system that utilizes both warm and cool season forages. A key strategy for a successful forage system is to accurately match animal nutrition demand with forage nutrient supply (Redmon, 2003). One important aspect of a good forage system is the maintenance of an accurate stocking rate, which is the specified period of time an expected number of animals can graze on a given acre of land (Hancock, 2011). A Kansas State University forage facts publication illustrated an example of a stocking rate for grazing wheat pastures. This publication stated that the stocking rate for the fall and winter can range from 113 to 226 kilograms of live animal per hectare and increase to 226 to 453 kg per hectare in the spring (Duncan et al., 2018). When comparing forage systems, many factors must be considered to be successful. Four important factors can influence the profitability of the forage system: First, the average daily gain (ADG), which is the expected rate of gain for each animal. Second is the Gain/hectare, which is the expected gain per hectare. Third is the grazing period, which is the number of days

when forage can be grazed at a certain stocking rate. Fourth is the stocking rate, which as defined earlier, is the number of animals that can be grazed on a given acre for a certain time. The overall goal is to maintain ADG's approximately 0.68 kg/head/day so that the animals' weight is appropriate to its age. However when stocking rates increase, if an individual animal is unable to select graze for high quality forage it may not be able to meet its nutritional needs (Hancock et al., 2011).

According to Bruckner and Raymer (1990), an important forage management and production decision should be based on the species and cultivar choice for winter forage (Bruckner and Raymer., 1990). In a University of Georgia review on forage systems for stocker cattle, the authors found there are over 60 forage species produced in Georgia alone. Cool season annual performance can vary with location, soil type and management. In addition, forage species vary as to the time they are most productive during the course of a season.

Plant Breeders

Plant variety selection based on phenotypic performance was done long before any type of DNA or molecular markers were available. In order to improve a variety, the best genetic variation would need to be identified. Breeding is a numbers game; the goal is to screen the maximum number of varieties under the maximum number of environments (Araus and Cairns, 2014). Barker and Kalton (1989) stated that there are two important conditions to maximize grassland production: (1) proper management and (2) usage of the proper species and cultivar for a specific climate and purpose (Barker and Kalton, 1989). The latter of the two conditions is where breeding is fundamental. Selection and improvement of grasses began before humanity itself as prehistoric animals practiced natural selection when grazing on more desired species. It was not until the mid-1930's that forage grass breeding accelerated (Barker and Kalton, 1989). In the 1960's, there was a serious effort to genetically improve forage crop nutritive values. Advances in laboratory techniques in analytical chemistry and rumen fermentation technology gave forage breeders the tools to screen thousands of samples in an attempt to improve genetic gains in breeding for forage quality (Casler and Vogel, 1999). There have also been studies conducted to evaluate forage yield. In a 1972 publication that considered genetic variation in yield and quality of oat forage, the authors noted that cultivar variations for forage yield was more consistent than that of forage quality over the course of several years. They concluded that when developing a superior forage oat cultivar, emphasis should be made first on yield and then on forage quality (Stuthman and Marten, 1972). There are direct and indirect economic benefits to forage improvement. The direct benefits would include increased seed and hay sales to the public and the indirect benefit would consist of saleable animal products. The direct and indirect products are a result of improved forages through breeding efforts (Bouton, 2007).

Traditional methods of estimating forage potential

The volume of forage has long been very difficult to accurately measure. Compounding the problem is the fact that the weight of plant material will vary between species. Since all forage in a particular pasture cannot be collected and weighed, sampling is the only way to obtain an estimate of forage yield (Wilm et al., 1944). It is necessary to have some measure of production, availability and consumption of forage in order to gain a better understating of the plant-animal interaction. The plant-animal interaction can determine stocking rates and has a great influence on the pasture output, which in many cases, is the animal product (Bransby et al., 1977).

In 1943, F. A. Coffman first proposed visual forage estimates as a tool evaluating the forage potential of winter oat strains in the U.S. Department of Agriculture Regional Oat Nurseries. His method was to visually rate the experimental lines for leafiness, vigor and overall biomass compared to standard varieties (Atkins et al., 1969). Another study evaluated the accuracy of visual biomass scores and forage yield in red clover (*Trifolium pretense* L.). The study found that visual scores could explain 90% of the variation of actual fresh weights. The evaluators that gave the same plants the same high score was high with an R²=0.84 (Riday, 1997). Visual rating in space planted red clover seemed very accurate for biomass estimation; however, all forage species may not be so easily evaluated. For this reason, many other methods have been tested throughout the years. For instance, in other crops such as corn (*Zea mays* L.), plant height measurement was a good predictor of plant biomass when collected before reproductive growth. A 2007 study of by-plant prediction of corn forage biomass and nitrogen uptake at various

growth stages using remote sensing and plant height concluded that across six site years plant height was a good indicator of plant biomass with an R^2 of 0.81 (Freeman et al., 2007). In the 1970's, a disk meter for measuring yield was used by many researchers. The disk method can either be a simple disk or a weighted disk that is placed on top of the forage and the height of the disk from the ground is measured giving the researcher an indication of forage biomass. This method is effective, yet time consuming and labor intensive; however, the simple disk method has an advantage over the weighted disk, as it is easier to use in the field (Santillan et al., 1979). Many methods can be used to estimate forage biomass in a non-destructive way; however, according to Harmoney et al., (1997) cutting and weighing forage from known areas is the most accurate method for determining forage biomass (Harmoney et al., 1977).

Researchers have discovered adequate ways of measuring biomass; however, these methods can be time consuming and labor intensive. Several studies have indicated that forage cutting to measure yield is costly and destructive; in addition, the demands of personnel and funding did not allow reliable information to be gathered, which could lead to sampling errors in research trials (Wilm et al., 1944; Haydock and Shaw, 1975; Sanderson et al., 2001). To solve some of these problems more recent studies have been conducted to modernize the way forage biomass can be measured (Freeman et al., 2007; Andales et al., 2006; Fricke et al., 2011). The now relatively low cost of remote sensing tools and techniques could be utilized to address many of the problems addressed earlier with the traditional methods of predicting forage yields.

Nondestructive method of estimating forage by use of UAV visual spectrum reflectance and primitive NDVI meters

The introduction of a "vegetation index" came from the first NASA ERTS satellite better known as Landsat 1 in 1972. Landsat 1 was equipped with a multi-spectral scanner to evaluate earth remotely, which could sense such things as spring green-up and fall dry down. Through Landsat 1 research, the development of a ratio that used the difference of the red and infrared radiances over their sums to normalize was developed. This vegetation index, Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI), is one of the most successful and simple ways to identify live green plant material in a remotely sensed way (LDP, 2015). Precision agriculture systems have been developed as a means to improve profitability and productivity of producers. This system requires high-resolution information, which will enable producers to better manage inputs (Elarab et al., 2015).

Many studies have evaluated the relationship between remotely sensed data and forage biomass (Serrano et al., 2000; Freeman et al., 2007; Tucker, C. J., 1980; Anderson et al., 1993). In a 2002 publication, the relationship between growth traits and spectral vegetation indices in durum wheat (*Triticum turgidum* var.duram) was evaluated. The study aimed at determining if vegetation indices (VI) could identify total dry matter (TDM) and leaf area index (LAI) in durum wheat, and in turn aid selection in a breeding program. The study determined the best growth stage for trait appraisal were Zadoks 65 and 75. The final results were mixed and determined that VI could track changes in the LAI during the growing season at different growth stages, environments and genotypes but was limited due to the lack of predictive ability for the combination of growth stage and environment (Aparicio., et al. 2002). In a 2016 study, Possoch et al. (2016) evaluated the use of multi-temporal crop surface models that were combined with the RGB vegetation index (VI) for forage monitoring in grasslands. The study found that the RGB vegetation index (RGBVI) was not a good estimator of biomass, but if combined with plant heights, medium correlations ($R^2 = 0.50$) could be obtained. In a 2012 study, the relationship between biomass, percent groundcover and remote sensing indices across six winter cover crops was evaluated. A 16-band CROPSCAN sensor was used to obtain ten vegetation indices. The study concluded that there was a strong relationship between NDVI and groundcover with an R^2 of 0.93. The most accurate index for measuring high ranges of biomass was the triangular vegetation index (TVI) with an R^2 of 0.86. In the low to medium biomass range the NDVI did not have a clustering of values; however, there was saturation in the higher ranges (Prabhakara et al., 2015). NDVI has had some criticisms for some of its perceived defects: (1) the differences between "true" NDVI measured at the surface and NDVI measured from space due to atmospheric interference, (2) the sensitivity of NDVI to LAI (leaf area index), which becomes weak with a rising LAI, and (3) soil brightness variations, which can cause variations in NDVI from one image to the next (Carlson and Ripley, 1997). Other problems with NDVI have been attributed to saturation issues in dense vegetation (Mutanga et al., 2004). One possible solution to the saturation issue would be to use the Red Edge peak, which is defined as the point of maximum slope in the vegetation reflectance spectra (680-750nm). This is the point where reflection changes from very

low in the red region of the spectra to very high NIR in chlorophyll absorption. This phenomenon is a result of leaf and canopy scattering (Filella and Penuelas., 1994). This idea supports the results of the a study conducted by Mutanga et al (2004) where they indicated during high canopy density the best estimation of biomass can be discovered by using vegetation indices that are based on wavelengths near the red edge rather than using NDVI (Mutanga et al., 2004). Several studies have indicated a good correlation between plant biomass from models obtained between NDVI readings and from primitive handheld devices and plant height of various species (Andersson et al., 2017, Flynn et al., 2008, Freeman et al., 2007).

The use of VI has long been applied to biomass estimation; however, the most popular VI would traditionally use the near infrared region (NIR) with a light reflectance range of 700 to 1300 nm (Bendig et al., 2015). To obtain the NIR band would require the use of a more expensive four band multispectral camera; however, a more cost-effective approach would be the utilization of a UAV mounted three band camera which would only take into account the Red (R), Green (G) and Blue (B) bands (400-700nm) (Bendig et al., 2015, Lessem et al., 2017, 2018). There has been some research into the use of visible band VI that has shown potential to be an effective method of biomass estimation; however; further investigation would be needed (Lussem et al., 2017, 2018, Tilly et al., 2015, Bendig et al., 2015, Possoch et al., 2016). A study conducted by Motohka et al (2010) concluded that visual spectrum VI's can be useful in detecting the early phase of leaf green-up, but may be limited to certain growth stages (Motohka et al., 2010). This may be useful when evaluating a multi-clip forage trial. There has not been a great deal of research on the best flight altitude for biomass screening. In a 2010 study, by Swain et al set out to determine the yield and total biomass of a rice crop by utilizing a low altitude unmanned helicopter, the UAV was flown at 20 meters over the experimental plots and had very good results when compared to satellite images for estimating some biomass parameters (Swain et al., 2010).

CHAPTER II

COMPARING MECHANICAL HARVEST WITH ALTERNTIVE GROUND BASED METHODS FOR ESTIMATING FORAGE YIELDS IN COOL SEASON ANNUAL GRASSES

Introduction

The United States (U.S.) is one of the largest forage producing nations in the world. According to the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA-NAAS, 2017) census, there were 23 million hectares of land in the U.S. used for forage, which contributed to the nutritive needs of over 93.6 million beef cattle and calves alone. Texas is the largest forage producing state in the U.S. with over two million hectares dedicated to forage production (USDA-NASS, 2018). Some of the most common cool-season annual forage species in the southern U.S. are small grain crops, which include wheat (Triticum aestivum), rye (Secale cereal), oats (Avena sativa) and triticale (Triticum secale) (Bruckner and Raymer, 1990). In addition to these, barley (Hordeum vulgare) is another small grains species that is less utilized, but can produce good quality silage and hay similar to that of oats and triticale (Min, D.H., 2012). Annual ryegrass (Lolium multiflorum) is not considered a small grain, but is a cool-season annual grass that provides a source of high quality winter and spring forage in the temperate regions of the world (Hill and Gates, 2001). Cool-season grasses offer producers valuable production and management alternatives as sources of forage, which utilize similar planting and harvest equipment as that of alfalfa (Medicago sativa).

Wheat is one of the most popular small grains forage species planted in the U.S., due in large part to its excellent cold tolerance and broad adaptation. Furthermore, wheat seed is readily available in most geographic locations and it typically performs well in grain, grazing or dual-purpose cropping systems giving producers flexibility in their operations (Redmon et al., 1995, Hossain et al., 2003). Rye, which has great earlyseason forage, particularly in southern climates, generally has more total forage than wheat. However, rye can become a major weed problem in areas where wheat is grown for grain (Roberts et. al. 2001), limiting its widespread adoption to certain regions where pasture and hay production dominate the agriculture landscape. Oats tend to produce the earliest season forage of any small grains, but are the least winter hardy, which limits their use as a winter forage to only the most southern states (Stichler and Livingston, 1998). Triticale is the result of a cross between rye and wheat and has earlier maturity than wheat, but later than rye. Triticale generally produces more forage than wheat, but lower forage than rye. Barley is not as commonly grown in the southern U.S. because of limited access to seed sources in some areas and it is more winter tender than wheat. However, barley has exceptional tolerance of soils high in soluble salts or sodium and has better drought tolerance (Rohila et al., 2002, Nevo and Chen, 2010).

The ability to accurately estimate forage yield of experimental lines and varieties without the time and expense of harvesting with and maintaining a plot harvester would aid cool-season forage grass researches and breeders in variety selection and advancement. For researchers and managers alike, it is important to know which species and genotypes of cool-season grasses produce the most forage in a given environment. To ascertain this information, many universities conduct cool-season annual forage trials to determine which species and genotypes produce the most yield in their respective regions. The publications that result from these forage trials are aimed at giving unbiased yield and quality data to researchers and forage managers so they can make educated decisions regarding the most appropriate varieties for their geographic region (Neely et al., 2016).

In an earlier study on the effectiveness of visual estimations for forge potential in oat and barley species, the researchers compared visual rating of forage potential against actual forage yields. The study found good correlations from a January evaluation when compared to actual yield. Interestingly, when the estimations from January were combined with a second estimation in March, the correlations increased when compared to to total yields for the season (Atkins et al., 1969). Another study by Riday (1997), the accuracy of visual biomass scores on estimating forage yield in red clover (*Trifolium pretense* L.) was evaluated. The evaluators that gave the same plants the same high score was high with an R²=0.84. This study found that visual scores could explain 90% of the variation of actual fresh weights (Riday, 1997).

Although visual rating is a reasonably accurate method for biomass estimation, all forage species may not be so easily evaluated. For this reason, many other nondestructive methods have been tested throughout the years such as plant height (Freeman et al., 2007) and disk meter (Santillan et al., 1979) with success. While these methods were successful, cutting and weighing forage from a known area is the most accurate method for determining forage biomass. Unfortunately, the up-front and routine maintenance costs associated with a mechanical forage harvester can be cost-prohibitive to physically harvest entire test plots (Sanderson et al 2001).

The objective of this research was to compare mechanically harvested aboveground biomass yield of cool-season annual grasses with alternative forms of nondestructive and limited destructive measurements of forage plot yield and to determine which method works best for each species and clip time. A less labor intensive method of estimating plot forage would aid breeders and researchers in evaluating more varieties or experimental lines more efficiently.

Materials and Methods

A cool season annual grass forage trial was conducted at the Texas A&M Research Farm near College Station, TX (30°31'N 96°25'W) during the 2015-2016 (2016) and 2016-2017 (2017) growing seasons. The climate of the location is humid subtropical. The 30-year average annual temperature is 20.6 °C and growing season (October-May) temperature is 19.0°C (College Station 2020). The 30-year long-term average annual precipitation is 1018 mm and growing season precipitation is 435 mm (College Station, 2020). The highest precipitation generally occurs in the months of May, June, and October. Plots for both years were located on a Ships clay (*Udertic Hapluderts*) soil type. The trial was set up in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with four replications of 37 entries in 2016 and 38 in 2017. Total number of plots in the 2016 was 148 and 2017 152. Each plot measured 6 m in length and 1.5 m in width. The trial included commercial and experimental wheat, oat, rye, triticale, barley
and ryegrass cultivars. All plots in the trial were treated with Cruiser Maxx Vibrance for Cereals to protect from seed borne and soil borne diseases and insects (e i. Thiamethoxam, Mefenozam, Fludioxonil and Sedazan) (Syngenta, Basel, Switzerland). All small grains plots were planted at a rate of 106 kg seed ha⁻¹. Ryegrass was planted at 28 kg seed ha⁻¹. Row spacing was 19 cm for both small grains and Ryegrass.

In the first growing season (2016), all plots were planted on October 1, 2015. Treatments included 10 wheat, 12 oat, 3 rye, 2 triticale, 7 ryegrass and 3 barley cultivars (total 37 treatments). In the second growing season (2017), the study was planted on September 29, 2016. The study included 9 wheat, 12 oat, 3 rye, 2 triticale, 9 ryegrass and 3 barley cultivars (total 38 treatments). In both growing seasons, temperatures were normal for the year. However, rainfall was above average in 2016 growing season and the trial received 632 mm of rain from October until May. In 2017, 273 mm of rain was received during the growing season.

Nitrogen fertilizer was applied in both growing season. A total of 101 and 102 kg N ha⁻¹ were applied as liquid urea ammonium nitrate (UAN 32-0-0) in the first and second years, respectively, on January 20, 2016 and December 2, 2016. The entire plot was harvested a total of three times per year with a small plot Haldrup 1500 forage harvester (Haldrup, Ilshofen, Germany) which is equipped with an onboard weigh system and 1.5 m header.

Forage clipping was done three times during the growing season. In 2015-16, clippings were done on January 19, March 28, and April 26, 2016. The clipping dates were November 30 (2016), February 8 and March 3, 2017. Clippings times were

categorized into four groups based on time of year: fall (November), mid-winter (January and February), early spring (March) and late spring (April) (Appendix 1). There was only one fall clipping in this study (November 30, 2016) from the 2016-17 growing season due to an early planting date and good moisture conditions at planting. Both the mid-winter and early spring clip times included clips from both growing seasons. Due to above average spring rainfall during the 2015-16 growing season, there was a late spring clipping (April 26, 2016), which did not occur in year two.

Visual rating, plant height and subsample weights (1m linear row) were collected within 24 hrs. immediately prior to mechanical harvest (clipping) of the full plot . Three plant height measurements were recorded per plot using a meter stick. Visual rating was conducted for each plot on a 0-10 scale where 0 indicated no forage potential and 10 indicated high forage potential. The visual rating was based on a visual assessment that took leafiness, height, and overall vigor into consideration to compare treatments. Following plant height and visual scoring, a 1 m linear row random subsample was collected from a single row within each plot. The subsample was cut 5 cm from the soil level to simulate cutting height of the mechanical harvester. Subsamples were weighed immediately following harvest to document fresh (wet) weight prior to drying. Dry weights were recorded after drying in the oven at 50°C for three days. Percent moisture at harvest was then calculated from the two weights (Eq. 2.1) and dry matter percentage was used to calculate dry matter yield from mechanical harvest.

% Dry Matter = Dry Weight / Wet Weight * 100 [Eq. 2.1]

Statistical analysis was conducted using SAS 9.4 statistical software (SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina). PROC CORR was used to run Pearson's correlation analyses between plant height, visual rating, subsample dry weight and total plot dry forage yield. This was done for individual species as well as all species combined to assess if certain measurements were better correlated with forage yield for certain species. Correlations were also run for individual species and across species for individual clip times to assess if certain measurements were better correlated with forage yield for certain times of the year. PROC REG was used with a backward stepwise regression (alpha = 0.05) to develop a biomass prediction model using plant height, visual scores, and sub sample weight as possible variables within the model.

Results and Discussion

Visual Rating

Correlation analysis revealed a wide range in relationships between visual rating and dry matter biomass for each specie and clip time combination (Table 1). While number of observations ranged by specie from eight (triticale, fall clip) up to 95 (oats, mid-winter and early spring clips), increasing the number of observations did not always improve correlations as both wheat (n=35) and rye (n=12) were not significant. Instead, the range in biomass played a bigger role. A good example of this is the difference in biomass range between the early spring clip time of Rye (n=24) and Barley (n=20). The correlation between visual rating and forage yield was much greater for Barley (r=0.92, p>0.0001) which had a range in biomass yield between 322 to 1770 kgha-1 compared to Rye (r=0.39, N.S.) which had a smaller range in biomass yield between 320 to 817 kgha-1. Overall, the highest correlation between visual rating and forage yield was achieved for barley (r=0.92, p<0.001) during the early spring clip. Wheat, rye, ryegrass, and barley all had at least one clip time throughout the season that was not significant, though rye was consistently the poorest.

For individual species, the visual rating correlated the best with yield during the fall clip for triticale (r=0.84, p<0.01), mid-winter clip for rye (r=0.43, p<0.05), early spring clip for oats (r=0.78, p<0.001) and barley (r=0.92, p<0.001), and late spring clip for wheat (r=0.60, p<0.001) and ryegrass (r=0.83, p<0.001). Interestingly, when species were combined by clip, the fall (r=0.84, p<0.001) visual rating had the highest correlation to yield indicating this was a reliable method to estimate relative forage yield among entries at this time of the year while In fact, correlations between visual scores and forage yields appeared reliable for early and late spring clippings as well, though the mid-winter clipping correlation (r=0.39, p<0.001) was weak. Intuitively, this makes sense as mid-winter clips are generally lower yielding and with less variation among plots. It is more difficult to detect a relationship when little variation exists. Based on this study, visual scoring would be a viable option for ranking trial entries for forage potential, but not a good method for actually predicting yield since the scoring system is relative to other entries only within a specific clip..

When data were combined across clip times for each specie, ryegrass had the best correlation between visual rating and yield (r=0.62, p<0.0001) while rye had the lowest correlation (r=0.39, p<0.001). When all data were combined across species and

clip times the visual rating only had a correlation of r=0.50 (p<0.001). A scatter plot between visual rating and yield across all species and clip times revealed an exponential relationship between the two measurements (y = 42.659e0.3553x) with an R²=0.44 (Figure 2.1). Still, compared to subsampling, the relationship is not as strong. This weaker relationship could be attributed to the method in which the plots were visually scored at each clipping. When visually rating a plot, its score was standardized based on a reference entry in the trial. In this instance, oat entry "TAMO 411" (Ibrahim et al., 2018) was given a visual rating and all other plots were scored above or below that rating based on whether they looked better or worse. This may lead to accurate ratings per clip, but would not transcend clip times as a score of eight for TAMO 411 in a fall clipping yielded 4265 kg ha-1 whereas a late spring clipping with a score of eight only yielded 919 kg ha-1. This particular genotype yielded very well in both the fall and late spring clippings in relation to other entries; however, this illustrates the tendency of an observer to standardize the rating based on the surrounding entries in an individual clipping.

In Table 2.1, the visual rating for individual clip times were better in general than the combined species correlation across all clips. Similarly, Riday et al (2009) achieved very good results ($R^2=0.79$, p<0.0001) when evaluating red clover plants on an individual basis to compare visual biomass scores with actual forage yield where measurements were taken only once for the growing season at two different locations. In another study by Atkins et al (1969), visual scores were used to estimate forage yield of oat and barley species, which showed a slight increase in coefficient of determination from r=0.40 to r=0.50 for individual species and clip times to r=0.55 to r=0.66 when combining clip times and species.

Table 2.1 Pearson Correlation coefficients and number of observations (n) between visual rating and dry matter forage yield for six species and four clip times in a cool season annual forage trial in College Station, TX across the 2016 and the 2017 growing season.

Clip Time								
	Fall	Mid-winter	Early spring	Late spring	Combined			
Wheat	0.32^{NS}	0.50 ^{***}	0.49 ^{***}	0.60 ^{***}	0.50 ^{***}			
	n=35	n=75	n=75	n=40	n=225			
Oat	0.53 ^{***}	0.31 ^{**}	0.78 ^{***}	0.42 ^{**}	0.46 ^{***}			
	n=48	n=95	n=95	n=48	n=288			
Rye	0.50 ^{NS}	0.43*	0.39 ^{NS}	0.56 ^{NS}	0.39***			
	n=12	n=25	n=24	n=12	n=72			
Ryegrass	0.71 ^{***}	0.20 ^{NS}	0.53 ^{***}	0.83 ^{***}	0.62 ^{***}			
	n=35	n=63	n=63	n=28	n=189			
Triticale	0.84 ^{**}	0.57 ^{**}	0.78 ^{***}	0.83 ^{***}	0.56***			
	n=8	n=20	n=20	n=12	n=60			
Barley	0.75 ^{**}	0.61 ^{**}	0.92 ^{***}	0.40^{NS}	0.50 ^{***}			
	n=12	n=20	n=20	n=8	n=60			
Combined	0.84 ^{***}	0.39 ^{***}	0.66 ^{***}	0.77 ^{***}	0.50 ^{***}			
	n=150	n=298	n=298	n=148	n=894			

*, **, *** Correlation coefficient significant at the 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001 probability levels.

NS, non-significant at $P \ge 0.05$.

Figure 2.1 Relationship between visual rating and total plot dry matter forage yield across clip times and species. Visual Rating was determined using a scale of 0-10, where zero equals no forage yield. Data was collected from a cool-season annual forage trial with six species and taken across four clip times [fall (November), mid-winter (January and February), early spring (March) and Late Spring (April)] during the 2016 and 2017 growing seasons in College Station, TX.



Plant Height

Correlation analysis revealed generally low correlation between plant height and dry matter forage yield for most individual species when combined across clip times; however, coefficient of determination values were much higher for individual clip times when combined across species ranging from r=0.52 (early spring) up to r=0.81 (fall) (Table 2.2). The highest height correlation to yield by species occurred for triticale

(r=0.95 p<0.001) in the fall, wheat (r=0.69 p<0.001)) and barley (r=0.87 p<0.001) in mid-winter, oat (r=0.80 p<0.001) in early spring, and rye (r=0.77 p<0.01) and ryegrass (r=0.67 p<0.001) in late spring. As was the case with visual rating, plant height had the best correlation with forage yield for the fall clipping (r=0.81 p<0.001) (Table 2.2). Plant height could be used to determine forage production rankings for individual clips throughout the growing season, but would not be useful by itself in predicting forage production without the context of growth stage or clip time. Barley had the highest correlation between plant height and yield among the different species when data was combined across all clip times (r=0.37, p<0.01) while wheat, oat, rye, and triticale had no significant correlation when combined across clip times.

When all data was combined across species and clip times, plant height had a low correlation of r=0.15 (p<0.001). This poor correlation can likely be attributed to the different growth stages that small grains experience throughout the season. In the fall and winter, cool-season annual grasses remain in the vegetative stage where they tiller and put on only vegetative, leafy growth. Certain varieties also have more prostrate growth than others, the degree of which may be independent of total biomass production. This can reduce correlations among plant height and forage biomass. As noted in studies of other species such as corn, individual plant height measurements were good indicators of biomass during early stages of growth as opposed to the later stages (Freeman et al 2007). Unlike corn, winter small grains species do not begin their reproductive growth cycle until spring, at which time they begin stem elongation and eventually produce

reproductive seed heads. During this stage of growth, small grains and ryegrass accumulate biomass rapidly.

Once forage is removed during or after this stem elongation, plants will attempt to recover and shoot up smaller, thinner stems in an effort to produce seed. Hence, many times in late spring plants may be taller than in the fall, but produce less biomass. As a result, height was well correlated with yield at each growth stage or clip time, but led to poor correlation when data was combined across clip times. A good example from this study is based on winter wheat variety 'TAM 401' (Rudd et al., 2012) which had a fall plant height of 31 cm and a yield of 1629 kg h-1 compared to a plant height of 43 cm in the late spring clip with a yield of only 742kg h-1 of dry matter.

Figure 2.2 shows the relationship between plant height and dry matter forage yield across all species separated out by clip time. The highest association with yield was in the fall with an R²=0.65 across species, followed by late spring (R²=0.55) and mid-winter (R²=0.46). The lowest association with yield was in the early spring (R²=0.27) (Figure 2.2).

			Clip Time		
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Late spring	Combined
Wheat	0.21^{NS}	0.69 ^{***}	0.54 ^{***}	0.56 ^{***}	0.05 ^{NS}
	n=35	n=75	n=75	n=40	n=225
Oat	0.43 ^{**}	0.64 ^{***}	0.80 ^{***}	0.23 ^{NS}	0.09 ^{NS}
	n=48	n=95	n=95	n=48	n=288
Rye	0.61 [*]	0.69 ^{***}	0.64 ^{***}	0.77 ^{**}	-0.06 ^{NS}
	n=12	n=25	n=24	n=12	n=72
Ryegrass	0.53**	0.41 ^{***}	0.40 ^{**}	0.67 ^{***}	0.30 ^{***}
	n=35	n=63	n=63	n=28	n=189
Triticale	0.95 ^{***}	0.53*	0.73 ^{***}	0.65*	0.00 ^{NS}
	n=8	n=20	n=20	n=12	n=60
Barley	0.37 ^{NS}	0.87 ^{***}	0.79 ^{***}	0.77*	0.37 ^{**}
	n=12	n=20	n=20	n=8	n=60
Combined	0.81 ^{***}	0.67 ^{***}	0.52 ^{***}	0.74 ^{***}	0.15 ^{***}
	n=150	n=298	n=298	n=148	n=894

Table 2.2 Pearson Correlation coefficients and number of observations (n) between plant height and dry matter forage yield for six species and four clip times in a cool-season annual

*, **, *** Correlation coefficient significant at the 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001 probability levels.

NS, non-significant at $P \ge 0.05$.

Figure 2.2 Relationship between plant height and total plot dry matter forage yield for four clip times using data collected from a cool-season annual forage trial with six species and taken across four clip times [fall (November), mid-winter (January and February), early spring (March) and Late Spring (April)] during the 2016 and 2017 growing seasons in College Station, TX.



Sub sample measurement

The subsample method had the highest correlation to yield across all species and clip times of all the methods evaluated in this study (r=0.83 p < 0.001). Indeed, an R2=0.68 was achieved when subsample weight was plotted against total plot forage yield, which is better than that of both visual rating and plant height (Figure 2.4). Most species had the highest correlation to yield in the mid-winter clipping with the exception of ryegrass and triticale, which had their highest correlations during the early spring

(r=0.78 p<0.001) and fall clippings (r=0.79, p<0.05), respectively (Table 2.3). This was expected as ryegrass is slow to establish in the fall and correlations are more difficult to establish when there is little variability among forage yields. Ryegrass produced abundant vegetative growth later in the season leading to the better correlation at that time. Interestingly, the fall clip had the poorest correlation for all but Triticale, but the fall clip time had the highest correlation when all species were combined (r=0.81 p<0.0001) (Table 2.3).

			Clip Time		
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early Spring	Late Spring	Combined
Wheat	0.41 [*]	0.78 ^{***}	0.70 ^{***}	0.62 ^{***}	0.83 ^{***}
	n=35	n=75	n=75	n=40	n=225
Oat	0.41 ^{**}	0.82 ^{***}	0.72 ^{***}	0.39 ^{**}	0.86 ^{***}
	n=48	n=95	n=95	n=48	n=288
Rye	0.37^{NS}	0.87 ^{***}	0.54 ^{**}	0.55^{NS}	0.81 ^{***}
	n=12	n=25	n=24	n=12	n=72
Ryegrass	0.36*	0.70 ^{***}	0.78 ^{***}	0.74 ^{***}	0.71 ^{***}
	n=35	n=63	n=63	n=28	n=189
Triticale	0.79 [*]	0.77 ^{***}	0.35 ^{NS}	0.76 ^{***}	0.85 ^{***}
	n=8	n=20	n=20	n=12	n=60
Barley	0.32 ^{NS}	0.91 ^{***}	0.83 ^{***}	0.58 ^{NS}	0.91 ^{***}
	n=12	n=20	n=20	n=8	n=60
Combined	0.81 ^{***}	0.80 ^{***}	0.77 ^{***}	0.69 ^{***}	0.83 ^{***}
	n=150	n=298	n=298	n=148	n=894

Table 2.3 Pearson Correlation coefficients and number of observations (n) between sub sample dry weight and total plot dry matter forage yield for six species and four clip times in a cool season annual grass forage trial in College Station, TX across the 2016 and 2017 growing seasons.

*, **, *** Correlation coefficient significant at the 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001 probability levels.

NS, non-significant at $P \ge 0.05$.

Figure 2.3 Relationship between subsample dry weight and total plot dry matter forage yield across clip times and species. Data was collected from a cool-season annual forage trial with six species and taken across four clip times [fall (November), mid-winter (January and February), early spring (March) and Late Spring (April)] during the 2016 and 2017 growing seasons in College Station, TX.



All species achieved good correlations between subsample harvesting and full plot forage yields when combined across clip times and ranged from r=0.71, p<0.001 (ryegrass) to r=0.91, p<0.001 (barley). Correlations were also strong when combined across species by clip and ranged from r=0.69, p<0.001 (late spring) to r=0.81, p<0.001 (fall). Rye showed the most variability in correlations across clip times, which were only significant for the mid-winter (r=0.87, p<0.001) and early spring clippings (r=0.54, p<0.01). Rye matures more rapidly than the other species in the trial, and subsequently, it only produced very sparse growth during the late spring because it had already headed out and was nearing the end of its life cycle. This could explain the poor late spring correlation.

The data strongly indicates that the subsampling method is more strongly correlated to whole plot dry matter forage yield compared to visual scoring or plant height when combining data across species and clip time for cool-season annual grasses. This is supported by the work of Martin et al. (2005) in which they concluded that the standard quadrat harvesting (subsampling) was the most reliable method to estimate forage biomass in a mixed species trial. In fact, this method could be more accurate than the whole plot harvest to which the subsample yields are compared to. While whole plot forage harvest with a forage plot harvester is the industry standard, it can also have its inaccuracies due to factors such as: non-uniform cuts across the plots, unbalanced scales, scales affected by wind and sparse forage in the early fall and late spring that can be difficult to mechanically harvest.

Prediction Model

While subsampling appeared to be the best method for estimating full plot forage yields, correlations could still be stronger and indeed, they were not significant in every instance. Therefore, a prediction model for dry matter forage yield was developed using 669 observations from replications 1, 3 and 4 across all clip times. A backwards stepwise regression was conducted using the following variables: plant height (HT), visual ratings (VR) and subsample weights (SUB). Using this method, all variables were found to be significant and the following prediction model was developed : Yield= (-590.563+51.62051*VR+8.31458*HT+20.42425*SUB). Using this model, predicted yields were plotted against actual yields of replication 2, which produced an adjusted R²=0.78 (p<0.0001) and RMSE 258.14 (Figure 2.4). This was an improvement over the

stand-alone subsample method with an R²=0.68 (p<0.0001) and RMSE 289.42 (Figure 2.3). A separate model using only plant height and visual rating was created [Yield = (-635.58294+176.44599*VR+3.59274*PH], which generated a much lower adjusted R² value (R²=0.29 p<0.0001) and RMSE 468.93. Personal preference would dictate whether the added level of accuracy of taking visual ratings and plant height is worth the extra time and effort beyond utilizing only the subsample method.

Figure 2.4 A graphical representation of predicted forage yield compared to actual forage yield from a model developed using plant height (HT), visual ratings (VR) and subsample dry weights (SUB). Observations used in the model were collected from a cool-season annual forage trial with six species and taken across four clip times [fall (November), mid-winter (January and February), early spring (March) and Late Spring (April)] and the 2016 and 2017 growing seasons in College Station, TX.



It is clear that subsampling was a better method to estimate or rank forage potential of entries in this trial; however, subsampling is still time and labor intensive.

For plant breeders who evaluate thousands of lines, it may not be a practical method for comparing forage yield of breeding lines. In this case, visual scoring or plant height may be useful, but not as accurate as subsampling. Breeders could then utilize this information for the advancement of cultivars from very large observational or preliminary nurseries for forage production.

Conclusion

When evaluating a multi-species forage trial over several clippings throughout the year, the model created in this study using all three measurements was better at predicting forage yield than any individual method alone. However, the subsample method was consistently better than either visual rating or plant height measurements and would be the only acceptable method for comparisons of entries across clip times and species.

If researchers are unable to take destructive samples, both visual and plant height measurements were highly correlated for fall and late spring clips. It is less clear which would be best throughout the entire season though, as visual rating was poorly correlated for the mid-winter clip and plant height was inferior to visual rating for early spring. In general, it would not be advisable to rely solely on visual rating or plant height to make comparisons within a specie for forage yield across all clip times, as correlations were generally low to moderate. Combining all measurements into one model to predict forage yield may be a better way to estimate forage yield if whole plot forage harvest is not possible. A less labor and cost intensive method of estimating plot forage would aid breeders and researchers in evaluating more varieties or lines more efficiently.

CHAPTER III

COMPARING NONDESTRUCTIVE AERIAL AND GROUND METHODS OF ESTIMATING FORAGE YIELD IN COOL SEASON ANNUAL GRASSES USING UAV VISUAL SPECTRUM REFLECTANCE INDICIES, VISUAL EVALUATION AND PRIMATIVE NDVI METERS

Introduction

The United States (U.S.) is one of the largest forage producing nations in the world. In fact, the USDA estimated that total U.S. forage production (all dry hay, haylage and green chop) in 2016 was 82.3 million metric tons (USDA NASS 2016). As a result, there is interest in developing more modern and efficient ways of evaluating breeding lines and cultivars of different forage species for forage biomass. Some of the more traditional methods, such as visual rating and subsampling have been around for over 50 years and are labor intensive. Having a good indication of how much yield potential a particular forage species and cultivar has is useful for livestock managers who rely on good forage production to meet the high demands of their forage systems. It is also important for researchers in forage and small grains breeding programs who need good forage potential data for cultivar advancement.

In the southern U.S., cool-season annual grasses can extend grazing and supply high quality forage for livestock (Bagley et al., 1998). This makes the use of cool season annual grasses the most common form of winter pasture (Corriher-Olson and Redmon, 2013). Some of the most common cool season annual forage species in the southern U.S. are small grains, which include wheat (*Triticum aestivum*), rye (*Secale cereal*), oats (*Avena sativa*) and triticale (*Triticum secale*) (Bruckner and Raymer, 1990). In addition to these more common southern species, barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) can produce good quality silage and hay similar to that of oats and triticale (Min, D.-H. 2012). Annual ryegrass (*Lolium multiflorum*) is not considered a small grain, but provides a source of high-quality winter and spring forage in the temperate regions of the world (Hill and Gates, 2001). The forage season usually stretches from October to May in Texas where this trial was conducted.

It is important for both livestock managers and plant breeders to have a good assessment of forage production quantity when evaluating potential forage species and varieties. For any livestock manager forage production is critical. A forage system can assist a livestock manager in some cases with an implementation of a year-round grazing system that utilizes both warm and cool season forages (Redmon, 2003). Producers rely on accurate forage estimates to adjust cattle stocking rates and animal gains. Plant breeders also need accurate forage data to make determinations on genotype advancement for public release of forage cultivars. Plant variety selection based on phenotypic performance was done long before any type of DNA or molecular markers were available. In order to improve a variety, the best genetic variation would need to be identified. Breeding is a numbers game; the goal is to screen the maximum number of varieties under the maximum number of environments (Araus and Cairns, 2014).

For these reasons, many universities conduct annual forage trials to determine which species and varieties of those species produce the most biomass in specific geographical areas. The publications that result from these forage trials are aimed at giving unbiased yield and quality data to researchers and forage producers so they can make educated decisions regarding the most appropriate varieties for their geographic region (Neely et al., 2016).

Despite their usefulness, small grains forage trials can be costly, time consuming and labor intensive to conduct. As noted in past studies, the standard method of determining forage biomass is to clip and weigh the samples, which requires great effort and expense (Sanderson et al 2001). Recently, efforts have been made to incorporate unoccupied aerial vehicles (UAV) into estimating cool season annual forage biomass. These vehicles utilize remote sensing imagery such as visual spectral images, which can obtain various vegetation indices (VI). The use of VIs has long been applied to biomass estimation; however, the most popular VI would traditionally use the near infrared region (NIR) with a light reflectance range of 700 to 1300 nm (Bendig et al., 2015). To obtain the NIR band would require the use of a more expensive four band multispectral camera; however, a more cost-effective approach would be the utilization of a UAV mounted three band camera which would only take into account the red (R), green (G) and blue (B) bands (400-700nm) (Bendig et al., 2015, Lessem et al., 2017, 2018). In a 2016 study, Possoch et al. (2016) evaluated the use of multi-temporal crop surface models that were combined with the RGB vegetation index (VI) for forage monitoring in grasslands. The study found that the RGB vegetation index (RGBVI) was not a good estimator of biomass, but if combined with plant height, medium correlations (R square (0.50) could be obtained. A study conducted by Motohka et al (2010) concluded that

visual spectrum VIs can be useful in detecting the early phase of leaf green-up, but may be limited to certain growth stages (Motohka et al., 2010). This may be useful when evaluating a multi-clip forage trial. Research is also limited on the best flight altitude for biomass screening. In a 2010 study by Swain et al, investigators set out to determine the yield and total biomass of a rice crop by utilizing a low altitude unmanned rotocopter. The UAV was flown at 20 meters over the experimental plots with positive results when compared to satellite images for estimating some biomass parameters (Swain et al., 2010). Many studies have evaluated the relationship between remote sensing data and forage biomass (Serrano et al., 2000; Freeman et al., 2007; Tucker, C. J., 1980; Anderson et al., 1993). Some research using visible band VIs has shown potential as an effective method of biomass estimation; however, investigators acknowledge further investigation is needed (Lussem et al., 2017, 2018, Tilly et al., 2015, Bendig et al., 2015, Possoch et al., 2016).

The Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) is one of the most successful and simple ways to remotely identify live green plant material (LDP, 2015). In a 2015 study Prabhakara et al., a 16-band CROPSCAN sensor was used to obtain ten VIs to determine the relationship between biomass, percent groundcover and remote sensing indices across six winter cover crops The study concluded that there was a strong relationship between NDVI and groundcover with an R² value of 0.93 (Prabhakara et al., 2015). NDVI does have criticisms for some of its perceived defects: (1) the differences between "true" NDVI measured at the surface and NDVI measured from space due to atmospheric interference, (2) the sensitivity of NDVI to LAI (leaf area index) which becomes weak with a rising LAI, and (3) soil brightness variations which can cause variations in NDVI from one image to the next (Carlson and Ripley, 1997). Other problems with NDVI have been attributed to saturation issues in dense vegetation (Mutanga et al., 2004). Still, several studies have indicated a good correlation between plant biomass and NDVI readings from primitive handheld devices or plant height for various species (Andersson et al., 2017, Flynn et al., 2008, Freeman et al., 2007).

These new methods have been recently explored in their application possibilities; however, historically the traditional methods such as visual rating and plant height have been utilized solely or incorporated as a part of the estimation of forage potential in various crops (Ackerman et al 1999, Ud-Din et al 1993, Freeman et al 2007, Fernandez et al 2009). Researchers have utilized visual rating for many applications in the plant science discipline. Several studies have utilized these ratings to evaluate issues such as weed pressure in cover crops, individual space planted clover and winter wheat forage lines (Lawley et. al. 2011, Ud-Din et. al. 1993, Riday, 1997).

The purpose of this research was to compare a ground-based method of forage estimations to an aerial method. The main goal is to determine which method is best to assist cool season annual grass breeders and researchers in estimating forage yield of entries in forage trials and breeding lines for advancement in breeding programs. The specific objectives of this study are to: (1) determine at what height UAV measurements should be taken for measuring forage yield, 2) Compare relationships among UAV generated vegetation indices, hand held NDVI, plant height, and visual rating with dry matter forage yield across and between cool-season annual grass species, (3) Develop models to predict forage yield among cool-season annual grasses using UAV generated VIs and ground based measurements. 4) Determine if models generated from UAV data are as reliable as ones generated from ground based measurements.

Materials and Methods

A cool season annual grass forage trial was conducted at the Texas A&M Research farm near College Station, TX (30°31'N 96°25'W) during the 2016-2017 (2017) growing season. The climate of the location is humid subtropical. The 30-year average annual temperature is 20.6 °C and growing season (October-May) temperature is 19.0°C (College Station., 2020). The 30-year long-term average annual precipitation is 1018 mm and growing season precipitation is 435 mm (College Station, 2020). The highest precipitation generally occurs in the months of May, June, and October. Plots were located on a ships clay (*Udertic Hapluderts*) soil type (USDA-NRCS 2018). The trial was set up in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with four replications of 38 entries in 2017. Total number of plots in the 2017 growing season was 152. Each plot measured 6 m in length and 1.5 m in width. The trial included commercial and experimental wheat, oat, rye, triticale, barley and ryegrass cultivars. All plots in the trial were treated with Cruiser Maxx Vibrance for Cereals to protect from seed borne and soil borne diseases and insects (e i. Thiamethoxam, Mefenozam, Fludioxonil and Sedazan) (Syngenta, Basel, Switzerland). The plots were planted at a rate of 75 kg seed ha⁻¹ on 19 cm row spacing in plots that were 1.5 meters (m) x 6.0 m in size.

The study was planted on September 29, 2016. Monthly temperature averages were near normal at 18.4°C and there was a below average amount of rainfall (273 mm) (College Station, 2020) during the growing season. The study included 9 wheat, 12 oat, 3 rye, 2 triticale, 9 ryegrass and 3 barley cultivars (38 treatments). The clipping dates were November 30, 2016 (Fall), February 8, 2017 (mid-winter) and March 31, 2017 (early spring). A total of 102 kg N ha⁻¹ were applied as liquid UAN (32-0-0) on December 2, 2016. Three plant height measurements were taken per plot just before harvest using a meter stick and averaged to get mean of plot height.

There were two methods of forage biomass analysis that were evaluated in this study an aerial and ground. The Ground method utilized the hand held NDVI meter, which was a Trimble GreenSeeker Handheld Crop Sensor, Trimble part number 91500-00 (Trimble. GreenSeeker, Sunnyvale, Ca). This sensor produces red and infrared light once the trigger was pulled at an operating height of 80 cm above the plant canopy. The trigger was held while the operator walked the length of the plot as measurements of the reflected light were taken at a continuous pace while the trigger was engaged. Once the trigger was released, an average plot reading was displayed. A numeric reading between 0.00 and 0.99 was produced based upon the NDVI which uses the equation NDVI = (NIR-R)/(NIR + R) (Hansen and Schjoerring., 2003). In theory, higher values indicate a healthier crop. Three plant height measurements were recorded per plot using a meter stick to get an overall plot average. A visual rating was taken for each plot on a 0-10

scale, where 0 indicates no forage potential and 10 represents very high forage potential. The visual rating was based on a visual assessment that took leafiness, height, and overall vigor into consideration to compare trial entries.

The aerial method utilized UAV data that was collected by using a Phantom 4 multi rotor drone equipped with an RGB camera (DJI, Phantom 4 multi rotor drone, Shenzhen, China). Flights were flown at two different altitudes of 20m and 30m with an 80% overlap just prior to clipping. The resulting images were processed and stitched together using Microsoft: Image Composite Editor (Microsoft. Redmond, Washington). Once the images were stitched, they were uploaded into the ENVI software (Exelis Visual Information Solutions, Boulder, Colorado) and the Region of Interest (ROI) tool was used to draw individual polygons over the entirety of each plot. Once all the polygons were drawn, the ENVI statistics tool was utilized to obtain the reflectance values of the three bands; band 1 red, band 2 green and band 3 blue for each pixel and then averaged across each ROI. Data was compiled in a Microsoft Excel spread sheet and used to calculate the vegetation indices identified in Table 3.1. In order to avoid multicollinearity issues, only the highest correlated VI was used for each species and combined species analysis. In addition to the VI, the same manual plant height was used as described earlier in order to remain consistent across methods. Once all data was taken, the plots were harvested using a Haldrup 1500 forage harvester (Haldrup, Ilshofen, Germany) which has an onboard weigh system and 1.5 m header to give plot total plot yield which was then converted to kg ha -1. In order to better synchronize the

yield data and produce a linear relationship with the indices and NDVI results the log 10

of each yield was taken by using the log function in Microsoft Excel.

Table 3.1 List of vegetation indices used to predict forage yield of a cool season annual grass forage trial along with their respective abbreviations, formulas and sources.

Vegetation Indices	Abbreviation	Formula	Reference
Normalized Red	r	Red/ Red+Green+Blue	Woebbecke et al 1995
Normalized Green	g	Green/Red+Green+Blue	Woebbecke et al 1995
Normalized Blue	b	Blue/Red+Green+Blue	Woebbecke et al 1995
Red Green VI	RG	R/G	Introduced here
Normalized Red Green VI	rg	r/g	Introduced here
Modified Green Red VI	MGRVI	$(G)^2-(R)^2/(G)^2+(R)^2$	Bendig et al.,2015
Red Green Blue VI	RGBVI	$(G)^{2}-(B*R)/(G)^{2}+(B*R)$	Bendig et al.,2015
Excessive Green VI	ExG	2 g-г-b	Woebbecke et al 1995
Normalized Green Red VI	g/r	g/r	Introduced here

Statistical analysis was conducted using SAS 9.4 statistical software (SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina). PROC CORR was used to run a correlation analyses between plant height, NDVI, R/G, r/g, MGRVI, RGBVI, ExG, g/r and total plot dry

forage yield and the log 10 of total plot dry forage yield of all species. PROC REG was used with a backward stepwise regression (alpha = 0.05) to develop the dry forage yield and log yield prediction models using , plant height (PH), Visual Rating (VR) and R/G, r/g, MGRVI, RGBVI, ExG, and g/r for the ground method. A second PROC REG backward stepwise regression (alpha = 0.05) was used to develop the dry forage yield and log yield prediction models by using the best VI R/G, r/g, MGRVI, RGBVI, ExG, and g/r in addition to plant height for the aerial method.

Results and Discussion

Measurements of visual rating, plant heights, hand held NDVI, and six VIs derived from the RGB (UAV) images were taken multiple times across a single growing season in an attempt to estimate forage potential. The UAV data was collected at two flying heights, 20 and 30-meter altitudes just prior to each clipping. The performance of each species varied based on the time of year as well as temperature and rainfall during the growing season. This is expected as each species performs differently through its life cycle and differs in response to mechanical clipping. In order to capture some of this variability, the study was divided into three seasonal clip times based on the time of year the clippings were performed.

Measurements for VIs are inherently small (between 0 and 1) and the yield data measured in kg ha⁻¹ ranged from 20 kg ha⁻¹ to 1706 kg ha⁻¹ which is comparatively much higher. The yield data was then log transformed in an attempt to create a linear relationship with measurements since VIs are known to produce non-linear relationships with yield (Panda, S.S., et. al. 2010, Dadhwal and Sridhar, 1997). Transforming the data

did improve correlations in some cases, but not all. Log transforming the plant height data did not increase the correlation to yield; and in some cases, it decreased it. Several studies have indicated that plant height can be a useful measurement of forage production (Boukerrou, and Rasmusson 1990, Tilly et al 2015, Alheit et al 2014)

UAV Flight Altitude

Each vegetation index was calculated for flight altitudes of 20 and 30 m above soil level to determine which flight altitude produced the best correlations. In every instance for the fall and mid-winter clippings, the correlation coefficient was as good or better at the 20 m altitude flight compared to the 30 m height (Table 3.2). The improvement was quite minimal for the fall clip however, and there was no improvement during the early spring clipping as the vegetative indices showed no correlation at either altitude. Of all the indices, the 20m height showed the greatest and most consistent improvement for the RGBVI index. The correlation coefficients were most improved during the mid-winter clipping when comparing the 20m to the 30m flight heights. Other studies documented a similar improvement at lower UAV flight heights. Liu et. al., noted that, as UAV flight height differed, the image resolution of the same area varied. It was determined that this variation can have an effect on image features which can degrade accuracy of the trait being evaluated (Liu et al 2018). A second study indicated that as the flight height of the UAV increased, the number of detectable targets decreased (Trolove and Shorten 2019). In the current study the effects of flight altitude were minor never the less the accuracy

was improved at lower altitudes. This was also seen in several other studies (Torres-

Sánchez et al 2014, López-Granados et al 2016, and Peña et al 2015).

Table 3.2 Pearson Correlation coefficients and number of observations (n) among vegetation indices, plant height, and hand held NDVI with dry matter forage yield for a cool-season annual grass forage trial in College Station, TX. Correlation coefficients for vegetative indices are shown at two flight heights (20 and 30 m) and combined across all varieties and species (wheat, oat, barley, rye, triticale, and ryegrass) in the trial.

Season	n	R/G	r/g	MGRVI	RGBVI	ExG	g/r	Plant Height	Hand Held NDVI
	Gro Measui	ound cements							
Fall	n=142	-0.73***	-0.76***	0.74***	0.64***	0.71***	0.76***	0.80***	0.73***
Mid- winter	n=142	-0.45***	-0.48***	0.44***	0.41***	0.42***	0.48***	0.52***	0.26**
Early spring	n=139	-0.14ns	-0.12ns	0.14ns	0.16ns	0.15ns	0.12ns	0.40***	0.47***
Combined	n=423	-0.36***	-0.35***	0.36***	0.25***	0.29***	0.36***	0.38***	0.47***
			301	m					
Fall	n=142	-0.72***	-0.75***	0.73***	0.53***	0.69***	0.75***	_	_
Mid- winter	n=142	-0.36***	-0.39***	0.36**	0.34***	0.34***	0.39***	_	_
Early spring	n=139	-0.14ns	-0.11ns	0.14ns	0.16ns	0.15ns	0.12ns	_	_
Combined	n=423	-0.35***	-0.33***	0.34***	0.16***	0.25***	0.33***	_	_

UAV and Ground Based Measurement Relationships with Forage Yield

UAV Measurements

A Pearson correlation analysis revealed a wide range in relationships among vegetative indices and plant height with dry matter forage yield for specific species and clip times (Table 3.3). Previous studies have shown non-linear relationships among VIs and biomass, so data was also log transformed to compare correlation coefficients

(Goward et al 1985, Hobbs 1995, and Santin-Janin et al 2009). While number of observations ranged by species from 12 (barley and rye) up to 44 (oats), increasing the number of observations did not necessarily improve correlations. Log transforming the data did improve the correlation coefficient for some species, but not all, and there was not a single VI that was best correlated to all species.

Overall, the strongest correlation obtained between a VI and dry matter forage yield for any species was for R/G, r/g, MGRVI, and g/r (r=-0.89, r=-0.89, r=0.89, r=0.89, respectively; p<0.001 for all) during the Fall clip for ryegrass when the data was log transformed. In fact, ryegrass had the highest VI correlations across clip times and combined clips (R/G: r=-0.92, p<0.001; MGRVI: r=0.92, p<0.001) than any the other species in the study. This could be a result of the naturally shinny, dark green, and smooth leaves that are characteristic of annual ryegrass (Lacefield, G. et al 2003). In general, the correlations between the VIs generated from UAV images and dry matter forage yield was far better for ryegrass in this study than any other small grains species. A study conducted by Golzarian and Frick, 2011 wanted to determine if image classification could distinguish differences between wheat and ryegrass by using color, texture and shape. The study evaluated the digital numbers of red, green and blue on a scale of 0-255. It was determined that ryegrass plants would have more red color than wheat which had more blue color (Golzarian and Frick, 2011). Red (564-580nm) and blue (420-440 nm) light wavelengths are strongly absorbed by chlorophylls (Terashima, I., et. al. 2009). Chlorophyll is the source of the green color that is reflected and found in all plants (Rabinowitch, E.I., 1965) and has a direct relationship with the amounts of

nitrogen contained in the plant cells (Wood et al. 1993, Lamb et al .2002, Schepers, J.S, 1996). In this study, it was noted that the ryegrass plots were visibly greener to the naked eye than that of the other species in the trial. This phenomenon could explain why the UAV and hand-held NDVI sensor were able to better detect above ground biomass yields in the ryegrass plots. While coefficients were high for original data, log transformed data improved the coefficient even further for ryegrass. Transforming plant height did improve correlations for fall and mid-winter clips, but early spring plant height was not significant in either case, and VI coefficients were better in every instance.

After ryegrass, rye had the next highest correlations among measurements and dry matter forage yield. Transforming the data had mixed results. Correlation coefficients were only slightly improved by transforming the data for the mid-winter clip, while coefficients were lower for the fall and had no practical impact for early spring. The original data did provide the best correlations when combining data across clips with R/G obtaining the highest correlation (r=0.75, p<0.001). Rye plant height had strong correlations for each individual clip time, but was much lower than most VIs when combined across clips. The strong plant height correlations reflects the more semi-erect to erect growth pattern of rye (Briggle 1959,Holt 1962, Pfahler et. al., 1986) which has much of its biomass located in the mid to upper canopy throughout the growing season. This is the opposite to ryegrass, which tends to have a semi-prostrate growth pattern (Arnold et. al., 1981,Choi et. al., 2000, Choi et. al., 2011) especially later in the season compared to other annual grass species.

Wheat, oat, and barley had low or no significant correlation in many cases when comparing VIs with dry matter forage yield. Wheat and oat both tended to have stronger correlations during the mid-winter clip time for many of the VIs, while barley had more success in the early spring clip. This could be attributed to when each species initiates spring green up. In this study oat and wheat cultivars tended to mature slower than barley. Interestingly, transforming the data improved mid-winter coefficients for wheat and decreased coefficients for oats. This could be a result of the overall range in yield for each species during the mid-winter clip time. The winter wheat ranged from 212 kg ha⁻¹ to 1,043 kg ha⁻¹ and the oat had a slightly higher range 264 kg ha⁻¹ to 1,260 kg ha⁻¹. It is possible that certain winter wheat cultivars had reached canopy closure before the oats resulting in a plateauing VI response to dry matter forage yield for the higher yields. This often results in a logarithmic relationship and cause an improvement to the correlation coefficient when the data was log transformed for the wheat, but not the oats. Data transformation made no appreciable difference for barley VIs in any clip time, which could be attributed to the data having a smaller range in values for all three clip times (fall 321-770 kg ha⁻¹, Mid-winter 202-649 kg ha⁻¹ and early spring 628-1585 kg ha⁻¹). No VI was significant when combining data across clip times for wheat and oats, though R/G produced a coefficient of r=0.42 (p<0.001) for barley using non-transformed data. Plant height had a much more consistent correlation with dry matter forage yield than VIs for wheat, ranging from r=0.52 (p<0.001) in the fall to r=0.36 (p<0.05) in the early spring with a coefficient of r=0.52 (p<0.001) for combined clip data. Oat plant height correlations were only significant in the fall (r=0.45, p<0.01), with or without

data transformation. This could be attributed to the growth habit of most oats in this study which were noticed to have erect growth early in the season, but as the season progresses and the oats developed a more semi-prostrate growth habit. This would result in much of the oat forage being located in the mid canopy of the plant for which plant height may not be the best determination of forage yield. Non-transformed winter barley plant height produced a high correlation for the mid-winter (r=0.82, p<0.01) and early spring (r=0.80, p<0.01) clips, but was not significant for the fall clip. This is likely an effect of growth habit of the specie, as it tends to maintain an erect growth pattern throughout the year with much of its forage evenly distributed throughout the plant profile, making plant height a reasonable forage assessment tool for most of the growing season. The small sample size and small range in yield likely was the cause of no significant correlation in the fall clip for barley.

Table 3.3 Correlation coefficients of original and log transformed data for plant height, R/G, r/g, MGRVI, RGBVI, ExG, and g/r with dry matter forage yield using visual reflectance data taken with a UAV at a 20m flight altitude. Measurements were taken three times (fall, mid-winter, early spring, and combined species) on a cool-season annual grass forage trial near College Station, TX during the 2017 seasons.

Original Data				L	og Transf	ormed Da	ata		
	Winter Wheat								
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	
Plant Height	0.52***	0.46**	0.36*	0.52***	0.42**	0.47**	0.39*	0.52***	
R/G	-0.35*	-0.30*	-0.04ns	0.07ns	-0.37*	-0.36*	-0.02ns	0.00ns	
r/g	-0.34*	-0.32*	-0.07ns	0.02ns	-0.35*	-0.39*	-0.05ns	-0.05ns	
MGRVI	0.34*	0.29ns	0.05ns	-0.07ns	0.37*	0.36*	0.02ns	0.00ns	
RGBVI	0.10ns	0.47**	0.10ns	-0.08ns	0.17ns	0.54***	0.08ns	0.00ns	
ExG	0.23ns	0.38*	0.07ns	-0.06ns	0.28ns	0.45**	0.05ns	0.02ns	
g/r	0.34*	0.32*	0.07ns	-0.02ns	0.35*	0.39*	0.05ns	0.05ns	
n	n=38	n=38	n=38	n=114	n=38	n=38	n=38	n=114	

	Log Transformed Data							
				0	at			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.45**	0.08ns	0.16ns	0.17* n=132	0.45**	0.07ns	0.24ns	0.20*
R/G	-0.03ns	-0.51***	0.24ns	0.13ns	-0.03ns	-0.49***	0.26ns	0.06ns
r/g	-0.11ns	-0.54***	0.27ns	0.13ns	-0.12ns	-0.50***	0.28ns	0.07ns
MGRVI	0.03ns	0.51***	-0.24ns	-0.13ns	0.03ns	0.48***	-0.26ns	-0.07ns
RGBVI	0.18ns	0.39**	0.19ns	-0.11ns	0.18ns	0.37*	0.21ns	-0.06ns
ExG	0.12ns	0.46**	-0.09ns	-0.13ns	0.13ns	0.42**	-0.08ns	-0.07ns
g/r	0.11ns	0.54***	-0.27ns	-0.13ns	0.12ns	0.50***	-0.28ns	-0.07ns
n	n=44	n=44	n=44	n=134	n=44	n=44	n=44	n-134
				R	ye			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.62**	0.74**	0.77***	0.48**	0.63*	0.71**	0.75**	0.37*
R/G	-0.64*	0.57ns	0.63*	0.75***	-0.60*	-0.62*	0.64*	0.68***
r/g	-0.62**	0.60*	0.62*	0.71***	-0.57ns	-0.65*	0.63*	0.65***
MGRVI	0.64*	0.57ns	-0.63*	-0.74***	0.60*	0.61*	-0.64*	-0.67***
RGBVI	0.64*	0.32ns	-0.39ns	-0.71***	0.58*	0.37ns	-0.41ns	-0.68***
ExG	0.65*	0.46ns	-0.53ns	-0.72***	0.60*	0.51ns	-0.54ns	-0.67***
g/r	0.62*	0.60*	-0.62*	-0.71***	0.57ns	0.65*	-0.63*	-0.65***
n	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36
				Ryeş	grass			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.56***	0.31ns	0.27ns	-0.08ns	0.69***	0.36*	0.28ns	-0.12ns
R/G	-0.82***	-0.68***	-0.79***	-0.83***	-0.89***	-0.76***	-0.83***	-0.92***
r/g	-0.86***	-0.67***	-0.76***	-0.86***	-0.89***	-0.71***	-0.77***	-0.91***
MGRVI	0.83***	0.68***	0.78***	0.85***	0.89***	0.75***	0.81***	0.92***
RGBVI	0.82***	0.68***	0.77***	0.74***	0.87***	0.75***	0.80***	0.85***
ExG	0.84***	0.67***	0.78***	0.81***	0.88***	0.73***	0.80***	0.88***
g/r	0.86***	0.67***	0.76***	0.86***	0.89***	0.71***	0.77***	0.91***
n	n=35	n=35	n=35	n=105	n=35	n=35	n=35	n=105

Table 3.3 Continued.

Original Data					Log	Transform	ned Data	
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.37ns	0.82**	0.80**	0.52**	0.37ns	0.78*	0.77**	0.54***
R/G	-0.20ns	-0.43ns	0.58ns	0.42*	-0.20ns	-0.42ns	0.58**	0.29ns
r/g	-0.24ns	-0.46ns	0.58*	0.31ns	-0.24ns	-0.46ns	0.58**	0.18ns
MGRVI	0.20 ns	0.43ns	-0.57ns	-0.40*	0.20 ns	0.42ns	-0.57ns	-0.26ns
RGBVI	0.27ns	0.53ns	-0.71**	-0.37*	0.27ns	0.54ns	-0.71**	-0.19ns
ExG	0.26ns	0.48ns	-0.62*	-0.34*	0.25ns	0.48ns	-0.62*	-0.19ns
g/r	0.24 ns	0.46ns	-0.58*	-0.46ns	0.24 ns	0.46ns	-0.58**	-0.17ns
n	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36
				Com	bined			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.80***	0.52***	0.40***	0.39**	0.75***	0.53***	0.41***	0.30**
R/G	-0.73***	-0.44***	-0.15ns	-0.36***	-0.89***	-0.50***	-0.18*	-0.54***
r/g	-0.76***	-0.47***	-0.12ns	-0.36***	-0.90***	-0.51***	-0.16ns	-0.51***
MGRVI	0.74***	0.44***	0.15ns	0.36***	0.90***	0.50***	0.18*	0.52***
RGBVI	0.64***	0.41***	0.17*	0.25***	0.83***	0.48***	0.21**	0.42***
ExG	0.71***	0.42***	0.17ns	0.29***	0.87***	0.48***	0.17*	0.45***
g/r	0.76***	0.47***	0.13ns	0.36***	0.90***	0.51***	0.13ns	0.51***
n	n=141	n=141	n=141	n=423	n=141	n=141	n=141	n=423

Table 3.3 Continued.

*, **, *** Correlation coefficient significant at the 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001 probability levels.

NS, non-significant at $P \ge 0.05$.

Ground-Based Measurements

Correlation analysis in Table 3.5 compares the VR, plant height, and hand held NDVI sensor to dry matter forage yield for each species, clip time and combined clip time for the original and log-transformed yield data. In this study, transforming the data showed little benefit to VR for any specie, except for a slight improvement in ryegrass correlations for each clip time and combined clips (r=0.85, p<0.001) (Table 3.5). Similarly, transforming NDVI data consistently improved correlation coefficients for

ryegrass for individual and combined clips (r=0.88, p<0.001). In fact, log transformed NDVI data had the strongest correlation with dry matter forage yield of any ground based measurement. While transforming plant height data showed some improvement for ryegrass, it generally did more harm than good for correlations with dry matter forage yield in other species.

Outside of ryegrass, NDVI produced few significant correlations for other species with only low to moderate correlations for wheat (r=0.36, p<0.05) and oats (r=0.41, p<0.01) in the early spring clip. In general, VR provided a consistently higher correlation to dry matter forage yield than plant height (PH) for all species except rye and the contrast was most striking for oats and ryegrass. Rye PH correlation with dry matter forage yield was better than VR for all individual and combined clips (r=0.48, p < 0.01). Correlations between visual scores and dry matter forage yields appeared reliable for winter wheat, oat and rye during the mid-winter clip time. Intuitively, this makes sense as mid-winter clips during this study took place in February when these species were on the verge of breaking winter dormancy and are generally demonstrating more variability in forage production. It is more difficult to detect a relationship when little variation exists, as was the case in the early spring for these species. Ryegrass and barley demonstrated a wider range in yield throughout the growing season, which made the relationships between dry matter forage yield and VR easier to detect through the season. Based on this study, VR would be a viable option for ranking trial entries for forage potential; however, its use would be limited to within a specific clip and would not be useful to predict yield, especially across clip times.
		Original I	Data	<u>U</u>	Le	og Transf	ormed D	ata
			suu	Winter	Wheat	<u>8 - 1 41151</u>		utu
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
VR	0.49**	0.76***	0.39*	0.33***	0.43**	0.75***	0.41**	0.36***
РН	0.52***	0.46**	0.36*	0.52***	0.42**	0.47**	0.39*	0.55***
NDVI	0.24ns	0.27ns	0.36*	0.06ns	0.20ns	0.36*	0.34*	0.10ns
n	n=38	n=38	n=38	n=144	n=38	n=38	n=38	n=144
				0	Image Station, TX during the 2017 set Log Transformed Dat Winter Spring 3*** 0.43** 0.75*** 0.41** 2*** 0.42** 0.47** 0.39* 16ns 0.20ns 0.36* 0.34* 144 n=38 n=38 n=38 Oat Mid-winter Spring 3*** 0.66*** 0.83*** 0.55*** 18* 0.66*** 0.83*** 0.55*** 18* 0.45** 0.07ns 0.24ns 22** 0.01ns 0.39** 0.40** 132 n=44 n=44 n=44 Rye 1132 n=44 n=44 n=44 Rye 111s 0.42ns 0.63* 0.10ns 118 0.63* 0.71** 0.75** 26ns 0.60* 0.06ns -0.24ns			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
VR	0.65***	0.82***	0.55***	0.63***	0.66***	0.83***	0.55***	0.68***
РН	0.45**	0.08ns	0.16ns	0.18*	0.45**	0.07ns	0.24ns	0.20*
NDVI	0.04ns	0.37*	0.41**	0.22**	0.01ns	0.39**	0.40**	0.25**
n	n=44	n=44	n=44	n=132	n=44	n=44	n=44	n=134
				R	ye			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
VR	0.49ns	0.71**	0.10ns	0.11ns	0.42ns	0.63*	0.10ns	0.14ns
РН	0.62*	0.74**	0.77**	0.48**	0.63*	0.71**	0.75**	0.37*
NDVI	0.56ns	0.05ns	-0.20NS	-0.26ns	0.60*	0.06ns	-0.24ns	-0.14ns
n	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36
				Ryeş	grass			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
VR	0.72***	0.69***	0.76***	0.79***	0.78***	0.78***	0.79***	0.85***
РН	0.56***	0.31ns	0.27ns	-0.08ns	0.69***	0.37*	0.28ns	-0.12ns
NDVI	0.83***	0.65***	0.83***	0.78***	0.90***	0.74***	0.88***	0.88***
n	n=35	n=35	n=35	n=105	n=35	n=35	n=35	n=105
				Winter	Barley			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
VR	0.75***	0.73*	0.87***	0.46*	0.74***	0.70*	0.85***	0.49**
РН	0.37ns	0.82**	0.80**	0.52**	0.37ns	0.79**	0.77**	0.54***
NDVI	0.48ns	0.20ns	-0.11ns	-0.02ns	0.50ns	0.20ns	-0.14ns	0.03ns
n	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36

Table 3.4 Correlation coefficients of original and log transformed data for visual rating, plant height, and hand held NDVI meter with dry matter forage yield. Measurements were taken three times (fall, mid-winter, early spring, and combined species) on a cool-season annual grass forage trial near College Station. TX during the 2017 seasons.

Table 3.4 Continued.

	(Original I	Data		L	og Transf	ormed D	ata
				Com	bined			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
VR	0.83***	0.73***	0.68***	0.68***	0.89***	0.74***	0.70***	0.74***
РН	0.80***	0.52***	0.40***	0.39***	0.75***	0.53***	0.41***	0.30***
NDVI	0.73***	0.26**	0.47***	0.47***	0.87***	0.33***	0.52***	0.61***
n	n=141	n=141	n=141	n=423	n=141	n=141	n=141	n=423

*, **, *** Correlation coefficient significant at the 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001 probability levels.

NS, non-significant at $P \ge 0.05$.

Prediction Models Aerial Method

Since no one variable showed a strong relationship across all clip times or species, models were developed to predict dry matter forage yield. The best VIs of the six evaluated here (R/G, r/g, MGRVI, RGBVI, ExG, and g/r) and plant height were used in a backward stepwise regression to develop individual models for each individual species, clip time, and combinations of species and clip times. In addition, models were created across species and clip times for both the original yield data and the log transformed yield data (Table 3.4). Using this data, 48 models were attempted, though five were not significant and thus not used.

Of the 43 models that were created, eight used only plant height, 12 used only a VI and 23 utilized both plant height and a VI (Table 3.4). Models for winter wheat and ryegrass had slightly higher adjusted R^2 values when yield data was log transformed whereas the oat, cereal rye and barley did not. The winter wheat model with the highest correlation to log transformed yield was the mid-winter clip time [(Y=1.40.019* HT+21713*RGBVI) Adj R²=0.54, RMSE 142]. The ryegrass model for the fall clipping

[(Y=1.3+0.018* HT+2.1*MGRVI) Adj R²=0.82 (p<0.0001), RMSE 27] had the highest coefficient of determination for the log transformed yield data (R²=0.82, (p<0.0001)) of any individual clip, though the developed models fit the data well for all clips. In fact, the combined model across clips was the best (R²=0.84 p<0.0001) for ryegrass

For oat, only the fall and mid-winter clip time models were significant, and even then, adjusted R² values were low, regardless of whether the yield data was transformed or not. The fall clip time for barley, for both the normal and log transformed forage data, did not produce a significant model; however; moderately high R² values were produced for both the mid-winter and early spring clip time models without transforming the data. Interestingly the early spring model [(Y=123.4+35.3*HT) Adj R²=0.65(p<0.0001), RMSE 174 utilized only plant height while the log transformed early spring model [(Y=3.4-1.1*RGBVI) Adj R²=0.28 (p<0.0001), RMSE 167] only utilized RGBVI, but produced a similar adjusted R². The mid-winter model had a slightly lower adjusted R² value, but had a much lower RMSE compared to the early spring clip. Despite the models fitting the data moderately well for mid-winter and early spring, combining data across clip times produced a model that explained very little of the variability in yield.

For cereal rye, the developed models explained over half of the variability for all three clip times and was best using the original yield data, though each model used a different parameter. The best rye model was for the mid-winter clip time $[(Y=751638+751650*gr) \text{ Adj } R^2=0.70 \text{ (p<0.0001)}, \text{RMSE 63]};$ however, the combined model did nearly as well in terms of the R². Of the combined species models, the fall clip time had the highest R² for both the original and log transformed forage data with an adjusted R²=0.76(p<0.0001) and R²=0.89(p<0.0001), respectively. In every case, transforming the data improved the adjusted R² value, but also increased the RMSE. The combined clip time and species was poor for both the original (R²=0.23(p<0.0001)) and log transformed (R²=0.36(p<0.0001)) forage data (Table 3.4), indicating there was not a "one size fits all" model. However, combining plant height with the gr VI in a model shows promise that a single model could be used across species to predict dry matter forage yield in the fall for a multi-species cool-season annual grass forage trial. Unfortunately, the models were less accurate for the mid-winter clip and rather poor in the early spring.

			Origiı	nal Data			Log Transf	ormed Data	
Species		Fall	Mid-Winter	Early Spring	Combined	Fall	Mid-Winter	Early Spring	Combined
	Model	Y=1610.4+14.2*HT- 1786.6*RG	Y=-792.3+21.2*HT+ 2235.0*RGBVI	Y=-262.0+20.4*HT+ 1513.7*RGBVI	Y=243.2+13.7*HT	Y=3.6+0.008*HT- 1.4*RG	Y=1.4+0.019*HT+2.1 *RGBVI	Y=2.3+0.010*HT+0. 7*RGBVI	Y=2.4+0.010*HT
Wheat	$Adj R^2$	0.27	0.43	0.28	0.21	0.23	0.54	0.29	0.25
	RMSE	120	137	153	213	120	142	152	218
	n	28	28	28	84	28	28	28	84
	Model	Y=- 1088.7+26.0*HT+ 1837.2*RGBVI	Y=- 363298+363804*gr	n.s.	Y=970.4+6.5*HT- 463.6*ExG	Y=1.8+0.014*HT+0. 981*RGBVI	Y=-233.7+236.4*gr	n.s.	n.s.
Oat	$Adj R^2$	0.27	0.28		0.04	0.26	0.25		
	RMSE	149	167		234	151	169		
	n	33	33		99	33	33		
	Model	Y=-447.4+907.0*ExG	Y=- 751638+751650*gr	Y=-81.1+25.6*HT	Y=- 3382.3+15.2*HT+ 3695.3*RG	Y=0.683+2.2*ExG	Y=-979.7+981.8*gr	Y=2.3+0.015*HT	Y=-1.1+4.0*RG
Rye	Adj R ²	0.57	0.70	0.51	0.68	0.48	0.70	0.49	0.44
	RMSE	37	63	93	137	40	60	90	159
	n	9	9	9	27	9	9	9	27
	Model	Y=122.1+600.5*MG RVI	Y=383.4+1629.0*M GRVI	Y=-84.2+16.1*HT +2998.8*MGRVI	Y=310.2+2722.2*M GRVI	Y=1.3+0.018*HT+2. 1*MGRVI	Y=2.0+0.019*HT+1.7 *MGRVI	Y=2.2+0.010*HT+2. 0*MGRVI	Y=2.1+3.7*MGRVI
Ryegrass	$Adj R^2$	0.70	0.45	0.67	0.73	0.82	0.62	0.71	0.84
	RMSE	35	154	136	210	27	149	163	354
	n	26	26	26	78	26	26	26	78
	Model	ns.	Y=-209.9+30.2*HT	Y=-123.4+35.3*HT	Y=- 1373.1+17.0*HT+ 1739.6*RG	n.s.	Y=1.8+0.033*HT	Y=3.4-1.1*RGBVI	Y=2.3+0.014*HT
Barley	$Adj R^2$		0.62	0.65	0.37		0.56	0.63	0.27
	RMSE		84	174	245		103	178	393
	n		9	9	27		9	9	27
	Model	Y=- 267903+23.1*HT+ 267352*gr	Y=- 281022+19.3*HT+ 280943*gr	Y=-309.5+24.6*HT+ 1354.9*RGBVI	Y=1409.2+13.7*HT- 1288.5*RG	Y=- 531.3+0.022*HT+ 532.7*gr	Y=- 261.0+0.017*HT+ 263.2*gr	Y=2.2+0.013*HT+0. 808*RBG VI	Y=4.34+0.010*HT- 2.1*RG
Combined	$\operatorname{Adj} \mathbb{R}^2$	0.76	0.43	0.27	0.23	0.89	0.48	0.32	0.36
	RMSE	156	174	203	294	208	178	205	342
	n	105	105	105	315	105	105	105	315

Table 3.5 Original vs log transformed data of the aerial method for each species and clip time.

After validating the prediction models using a subset of the data from replication two, Figure 3.1 illustrates the accuracy of the models for the original and log transformed forage yield data. The effectiveness of the log transformation is most noticeable in the scatter plots for ryegrass (Figure 3.1, d and i). The log transformation of the ryegrass forage yield data distributed the data points closer to the 1 to 1 line. The data for the original rye forage yield (plot c; $R^2=0.68$ (p<0.0001) have a more uniform distribution around the 1 to 1 line than that of the transformed rye yield (plot h; $R^2=0.44$ (p<0.0001). The predicted yields for both the original and log transformed forage yield data for winter wheat, oat and barely were not very well correlated with actual yield. The wheat model overpredicted low yields and underpredicted high yields, while the oat model showed no discernible relationship. The barley models did well at predicting low yields but underpredicted high yielding plots.

Figure 3.5 Aerial method original and log transformed data Predicted vs actual yield data on a 1:1 line a) Wheat b) Oat c) Rye d) Ryegrass e) Winter Barley for original data, f) Wheat g) Oat h) Rye i) Ryegrass j) Winter Barley for log-transformed data.



The log transformed forage data for the fall clip time ($R^2=0.89(p<0.0001)$; plot e) was an improvement over the original forage yield data ($R^2=0.76$ (p<0.0001); plot a) (Figure 3.2). While the predicted yields are more evenly distributed along the 1 to 1 line for lower yields when transforming the data, they appear to be more scatter as yield increases. Similar to the fall clip, the mid-winter clip model tended to underpredict low forage yields and overpredict the higher yields in that particular clip using the original data (plot b; R²=0.43 (p<0.0001)). Transforming the mid-winter clip yield data only had a minimal improvement on over or under predicting forage yield (plot f; R²=0.48 (p<0.0001)). The ability of the model to predict forage yield during the early spring clip was quite poor for both original (plot d; $R^2=0.27$ (p<0.0001)) and transformed (plot h; $R^2=0.32$ (p<0.0001)) data, though there was again a slight improvement using the transformed data. In the model where species and clip times were combined, low yields were significantly underpredicted and higher yields were overpredicted using the original data (plot d; $R^2=0.23$ (p<0.0001)). The log transformation helped with over or under predicting to some degree, but caused more scatter in the predicted values and R^2 values were quite low in either case. (plot h; $R^2=0.36$ (p<0.0001)). It is noteworthy that the log transformed forage yield data had better R² values for all clip times and combined clip times than that of the original data.

Figure 3.6 Validation of models for original and log transformed data using vegetative indices and plant height to predict actual yield based on clip time. Plots are assigned as a) Fall clip b) Mid-winter c) early Spring d) combined for original forage yield data and e) Fall clip f) mid-winter g) early spring h) combined for log transformed forage yield data. Solid line represents 1:1 line.



Prediction Models Ground Based Method

Since no one variable showed a strong relationship across all clip times or species, models were developed to predict dry forage yield using visual rating, plant height and handheld NDVI. Of the 48 models attempted, three were not significant. Of the 45 models that were created, 11 used only plant height, 15 used only a visual rating and five used only hand held NDVI. Some models for species and clip times were more accurate when all measurements were combined. Five models used plant height and visual rating, four used plant height and handheld NDVI, two used visual rating and handheld NDVI, and three models utilized all three measurements. Using the original data for the cereal rye was superior in every clip time including the combined data across clips, though the combined model was much less accurate than the individual clip models. Similar to cereal rye, predicted winter barley yields were more highly correlated to actual yield for each individual clip using original data compared to log transformed data and individual clip times were much better at predicting yield than combining all three clips together There were no appreciable differences between the models using original and transformed data for winter wheat. The models for mid-winter and early spring produced moderately high R² values, but the fall clip and combined models were quite poor. For the oat models, the only appreciable difference between the original data and transformed data occurred for the combined model where transforming improved the R², but increased the RMSE. In general the adjusted R² values were low

except for the mid-winter clip [(Y=2.2+0.082*VR) Adj R²=0.67 (p<0.0001), RMSE 198], which had the lowest RMSE as well. Transforming the forage data improved individual clip models and the combined model for ryegrass, though the fall clip produced the most accurate model [(Y=0.637+0.019*HT+1.3*NDVI) R²=0.84 (p<0.0001), RMSE 23]. The winter barley models were better in every case using the original data, except when combining clip data. In fact, the barley models rivalled the accuracy of the ryegrass models using transformed data, except when combined across clips. When combining data across species, transforming the data improved R² values, but also increased RMSE values slightly. The combined species fall clip time produced the best R² value (R²=0.87 (p<0.0001)), compared to the mid-winter and early spring clips, but again, the RMSE was not as low (RMSE=187).

	Original Data				Log Transformed Data				
Species		Fall	Mid-Winter	Early Spring	Combined	Fall	Mid-Winter	Early Spring	Combined
	Model	Y=-113.3+100.0*VR	Y=-699.2+174.1*VR	Y=- 1063.4+23.1*HT+ 1891.1*NDVI	Y=243.9+13.7*HT	Y=2.2+0.068*VR	Y=1.6+0.149*VR	Y=1.9+0.019*HT+0. 946*NDVI	Y=2.4+0.010*HT
Wheat	Adj R ²	0.19	0.59	0.48	0.21	0.15	0.60	0.50	0.25
	RM SE	129	118	129	213	129	119	130	218
	n	28	28	28	84	28	28	28	84
	Model	Y=-173.8+128.1*VR	Y=-121.5+117.6*VR	Y=- 670.1+114.7*VR+ 1264.4*NDVI	Y=-180.9+139.3*VR	Y=2.3+0.072*VR	Y=2.2+0.082*VR	Y=2.3+0.045*VR+0. 503*NDVI	Y=2.2+0.084*VR
Oat	Adj R ²	0.38	0.66	0.27	0.36	0.41	0.67	0.26	0.45
	RMSE	139	115	153	193	140	119	153	198
	n	33	33	33	99	33	33	33	99
	Model	Y=-227.1+14.6*HT	Y=-222.1+29.3*HT	Y=-81.1+25.6*HT	Y=-119.7+20.4*HT	n.s	n.s.	Y=2.3+0.015*HT	n.s.
Dro	Adj R ²	0.42	0.45	0.51	0.22			0.49	
куе	RMSE	43	85	93	217			90	
	n	9	9	9	27			9	
	Model	Y=- 78.2+379.7*NDVI	Y=-63.6+83.8*VR	Y=-165.2+1540.5 *NDVI	Y=-514.2+1645.6 *NDVI	Y=0.637+0.019*HT+ 1.3*NDVI	Y=1.9+0.098*VR	Y=2.1+1.0*NDVI	Y=0.991+2.3*NDVI
Ryegrass	Adj R ²	0.69	0.47	0.69	0.59	0.84	0.60	0.76	0.75
	RM SE	35	152	135	256	23	152	126	257
	n	26	26	26	78	26	26	26	78
	Model	Y=-295.7+109.9*VR	Y=-209.9+30.2*HT	Y=- 692.3+159.7*VR+18. 4*HT	Y=17.2+21.3*HT	Y=2.0+0.093*VR	Y=1.8+0.033*HT	Y=2.3+0.095*VR	Y=2.3+0.014*HT
Barley	Adj R ²	0.67	0.62	0.87	0.25	0.67	0.56	0.74	0.27
	RMSE	67	84	96	273	71.16	103	122	275
	n	9	9	9	27	9	9	9	27
	Model	Y=-923.6+105.8 *VR+19.0*HT	Y=-453.4+104.6 *VR+11.4*HT	Y=- 642.2+75.7*VR+13.9 *HT+888.2*NDVI	Y=-533.7+137.1 *VR+8.0*HT	Y=0.455+0.121*VR+ 0.013 *HT+1.17*NDVI	Y=1.7+0.094*VR+0. 010*HT	Y=2.0+0.035*VR+0. 008*HT+0.582*NDV I	Y=1.1+0.113*VR+0. 005*HT+0.884*NDV I
Combined	Adj R ²	0.77	0.57	0.56	0.47	0.87	0.61	0.63	0.58
	RMSE	154	150	156	244	187	153	158	279
	n	105	105	105	315	105	105	105	315

Table 3.6 Original vs log transformed data of the ground method for each species and clip time.

The effectiveness of the log transformation is most noticeable in the scatter plots for ryegrass (Figure 3.3, d and i), which also happened to be the best model for any species combined across clip times. The relationship between predicted and actual forage yield for cereal rye were among the poorest of all the species. The combined models for winter oat show no improvement from transforming the forage yield data as the RMSE increased slightly, despite the R² value improving (Figure 3.3, b and h). The combined models developed for both winter wheat and barley clearly did not predict forage yield with a high level of confidence, regardless of using original or log transformed forage yield data. **Figure 3.7** Models developed to predict forage yield of cool-season annual grass species using ground measurements and comparing model performance using original data or log transformed data. Predicted forage yield is compared to actual yield data using a 1:1 (black) line for the following species: a) Wheat b) Oat c) Rye d) Ryegrass e) Winter Barley for original data and f) Wheat g) Oat h) Rye i) Ryegrass j) Winter Barley for log transformed data.



When running validations for models using ground-based measurements to predict forage yield across species for specific clip times, there was a consistent trend. For every individual clip time, including the combined model, the models using the original forage data overpredicted lower forage yields and underpredicted higher forage yield. Using log transformed forage data improved the R² values for the models in every case, but also increased the RMSE. Still, using the transformed data was an improvement as it reduced the amount of over or underprediction, though improvements were only modest for the mid-winter and early spring clips. The fall clip time of the log transformed forage data had the highest R²=0.87(p<0.0001) (RMSE=187), while the mid-winter and early clip times only achieved a R²=0.61(p<0.0001) (RMSE=153) and R²=0.63(p<0.0001) (RMSE=158), respectively. The individual clip times were better at predicting forage yield compared to the combined model, which had a lower R² and nearly double the RMSE. **Figure 3.8** Models developed to predict forage yield of cool-season annual grass species using ground measurements and comparing model performance using original data or log transformed data. Predicted forage yield is compared to actual yield data using a 1:1 (black) line for the following clip times: a) Fall clip b) Mid winter c) early Spring d) combined for original data, e) Fall clip f) mid winter g) early spring h) combined for log transformed data.



Table 3.7 compares the R² for all measured variables in the study which include PH visual rating, handheld NDVI, R/G, r/g, MGRVI, RGBVI, ExG, and g/r alongside the aerial and ground models and using both original or log transformed forage yield data. For each species, the variables that correlated well to forage yield varied widely among species and clip times. In many cases, the aerial or ground models made little or no improvement to the cR² values; however, there were some instances where it made a significant improvement such as with the early spring clip of wheat and oat, fall and mid-winter clips for rye, fall and early spring clips for barley, and early spring clip for the combined data. The early spring clip benefitted the most often from the groundbased model. The ground-based model in general did better than aerial-based models for wheat, oat, and barley; generally did worse for rye, and was not much different for ryegrass. In general, combining data across clip times for specific species did not achieve good results, though there were some exception such as with rye (aerial model) and ryegrass (aerial model).

Winter wheat had the highest $R^2=0.61(p<0.0001)$ for both the original (Y=-699.2+174.1*VR) and log transformed (Y=1.6+0.149*VR) forage yield data during the mid-winter clip time with the ground method which only utilized VR in the model. This was only a slight increase from using the visual rating alone for both the original (R²=0.58(p<0.0001)) and log transformed (R²=0.56(p<0.0001)) forage data. The VR produced the highest R²=0.69(p<0.0001) for the oat mid-winter clip using the log transformed forage yield data. Neither model produced a better R² value. The best R² for cereal rye (R²=0.73 (p<0.0001)) was generated by both the original (Y=- 751638+751650*gr) and log transformed (Y=-979.7+981.8*gr) models during the midwinter clip using the aerial method which only utilized the gr VI in the model. Ryegrass had the highest R²=0.85(p<0.0001) for log transformed

(Y=0.637+0.019*HT+1.3*NDVI) forage yield data during the fall clip time with the ground model. In this case, the model utilized plant height and hand held NDVI. For the combined clip time for ryegrass the aerial model (Y=2.1+3.7*MGRVI) had the highest correlation to yield of the log transformed forage yield data with a $R^2=0.84$ (p<0.0001). Winter barley had the highest R²=0.90 (p<0.0001) for the original forage yield data (Y=-692.3+159.7*VR+18.4*HT) during the late spring clip time with the ground method which utilized the VR and HT in the model. When combining species, the best correlation occurred using log transformed forage yield data for the fall clip time. Both the ground model (Y=0.455+0.121*VR+0.013 *HT+1.17*NDVI) with an $R^2=0.88(p<0.0001)$ which used the visual rating, NDVI and plant height, and aerial model (Y=-531.3+ 0.022 *HT+ 532.7*gr) with a R²=0.89(p<0.0001) and utilized plant height and the gr VI were very highly correlated to forage yield. When combining clip times across species, the highest correlations occurred with the log transformed forage yield data and the ground model (Y=1.1+0.113*VR +0.005*HT+0.884*NDVI; R²=0.59 (p<0.0001)). The ground model included all three variables: visual rating, plant height and hand held NDVI.

	(Original D	Pata			Log Tran	sformed D	ata
				Winter	r Wheat			
	Fall	Mid-winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid-winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.27	0.21	0.13	0.27	0.18	0.22	0.15	0.27
VR	0.24	0.58	0.15	0.11	0.18	0.56	0.17	0.13
NDVI	0.06	0.07	0.13	0.00	0.04	0.13	0.12	0.01
R/G	0.12	0.09	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.13	0.00	0.00
r/g	0.12	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.12	0.15	0.00	0.00
MGRVI	0.12	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.14	0.13	0.00	0.00
RGBVI	0.01	0.08	0.01	0.00	0.03	0.29	0.00	0.00
ExG	0.05	0.14	0.00	0.00	0.08	0.20	0.00	0.00
g/r	0.12	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.12	0.15	0.00	0.00
n	n=38	n=38	n=38	n=114	n=38	n=38	n=38	n=114
Aerial Model	0.32	0.47	0.33	0.22	0.29	0.58	0.34	0.26
Ground Model	0.22	0.61	0.52	0.22	0.18	0.61	0.54	0.26
n	n=28	n=28	n=28	n=84	n=28	n=28	n=28	n=84
				C	Dat			
	Fall	Mid-winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid-winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.20	0.00	0.03	0.03	0.20	0.00	0.06	0.04
VR	0.42	0.67	0.30	0.40	0.40	0.69	0.09	0.46
NDVI	0.00	0.14	0.17	0.05	0.00	0.15	0.16	0.06
R/G	0.00	0.26	0.06	0.02	0.00	0.24	0.07	0.00
r/g	0.01	0.29	0.07	0.02	0.01	0.25	0.08	0.00
MGRVI	0.00	0.26	0.06	0.02	0.00	0.23	0.07	0.00
RGBVI	0.03	0.15	0.04	0.01	0.03	0.14	0.04	0.00
ExG	0.01	0.21	0.00	0.02	0.02	0.18	0.00	0.00
g/r	0.01	0.29	0.07	0.02	0.01	0.25	0.08	0.00
n	n=44	n=44	n=44	n=134	n=44	n=44	n=44	n-134
Aerial Model	0.31	0.31	0.00	0.06	0.31	0.27	0.00	0.00
Ground Model	0.40	0.67	0.32	0.36	0.42	0.69	0.31	0.45
n	n=33	n=33	n=33	n=99	n=33	n=33	n=33	n=99

Table 3.7 Coefficient of determination of original vs log transformed data for plant height, visual rating, hand held NDVI, R/G, r/g, MGRVI, RGBVI, ExG, and g/r individual variables compared to aerial and ground models.

Table 3.7 Commutu.	Tabl	le 3.7	Contin	ued.
--------------------	------	--------	--------	------

	0	riginal Da	ıta		\mathbf{L}	og Transf	ormed D	ata
				R	ye			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.38	0.55	0.59	0.23	0.4	0.5	0.56	0.14
VR	0.24	0.5	0.01	0.01	0.18	0.4	0.01	0.02
NDVI	0.31	0	0.04	0.06	0.36	0	0.06	0.02
R/G	0.41	0.32	0.4	0.56	0.36	0.38	0.17	0.46
r/g	0.38	0.36	0.38	0.5	0.32	0.42	0.4	0.42
MGRVI	0.41	0.32	0.4	0.55	0.36	0.37	0.17	0.45
RGBVI	0.41	0.1	0.15	0.5	0.34	0.14	0.17	0.46
ExG	0.42	0.21	0.28	0.52	0.36	0.26	0.29	0.45
g/r	0.38	0.36	0.38	0.5	0.32	0.42	0.4	0.42
n	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36
Aerial Model	0.62	0.73	0.57	0.7	0.54	0.73	0.55	0.46
Ground Model	0.49	0.52	0.57	0.25	0	0	0.55	0
n	n=9	n=9	n=9	n=27	n=9	n=9	n=9	n=27
				Ryeg	grass			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.31	0.1	0.07	0	0.48	0.13	0.08	0.01
VR	0.52	0.48	0.58	0.62	0.61	0.61	0.62	0.72
NDVI	0.69	0.33	0.69	0.61	0.81	0.55	0.77	0.77
R/G	0.67	0.46	0.62	0.48	0.79	0.58	0.69	0.85
r/g	0.74	0.45	0.58	0.55	0.79	0.5	0.59	0.83
MGRVI	0.69	0.46	0.61	0.72	0.79	0.56	0.66	0.85
RGBVI	0.67	0.46	0.59	0.55	0.76	0.56	0.64	0.72
ExG	0.71	0.45	0.61	0.66	0.77	0.53	0.64	0.77
g/r	0.74	0.45	0.58	0.74	0.79	0.5	0.59	0.83
n	n=35	n=35	n=35	n=105	n=35	n=35	n=35	n=105
Aerial Model	0.71	0.47	0.7	0.73	0.84	0.65	0.74	0.84
Ground Model	0.71	0.49	0.7	0.6	0.85	0.61	0.77	0.75
n	n=26	n=26	n=26	n=78	n=26	n=26	n=26	n=78

Tabl	e 3.7	Continu	ed.

	0	riginal Da	nta		L	og Transf	ormed D	ata
				Winter	Barley			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.14	0.67	0.64	0.27	0.14	0.61	0.59	0.29
VR	0.56	0.53	0.76	0.21	0.55	0.49	0.72	0.24
NDVI	0.23	0.04	0.01	0	0.25	0.04	0.02	0
R/G	0.04	0.18	0.34	0.18	0.04	0.18	0.34	0.08
r/g	0.06	0.21	0.34	0.1	0.06	0.21	0.34	0.03
MGRVI	0.04	0.18	0.32	0.16	0.04	0.18	0.32	0.07
RGBVI	0.07	0.28	0.5	0.14	0.07	0.29	0.5	0.04
ExG	0.07	0.23	0.38	0.12	0.06	0.23	0.38	0.04
g/r	0.06	0.21	0.34	0.21	0.06	0.21	0.34	0.03
n	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36	n=12	n=12	n=12	n=36
Aerial Model	0	0.67	0.69	0.42	0	0.61	0.68	0.3
Ground Model	0.71	0.67	0.9	0.28	0.71	0.61	0.78	0.3
n	n=9	n=9	n=9	n=27	n=9	n=9	n=9	n=27
				Com	bined			
	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined	Fall	Mid- winter	Early spring	Combined
Plant Height	0.64	0.27	0.16	0.15	0.57	0.28	0.17	0.09
VR	0.69	0.53	0.46	0.46	0.8	0.56	0.49	0.55
NDVI	0.54	0.07	0.22	0.22	0.76	0.11	0.27	0.37
R/G	0.53	0.2	0.02	0.13	0.79	0.25	0.03	0.29
r/g	0.58	0.23	0.02	0.13	0.8	0.26	0.03	0.26
MGRVI	0.55	0.2	0.02	0.13	0.8	0.25	0.03	0.27
RGBVI	0.41	0.17	0.03	0.06	0.69	0.23	0.03	0.17
ExG	0.51	0.18	0.03	0.09	0.76	0.23	0.04	0.21
g/r	0.58	0.23	0.02	0.13	0.8	0.26	0.03	0.26
n	n=141	n=141	n=141	n=423	n=141	n=141	n=141	n=423
Aerial Model	0.77	0.44	0.28	0.24	0.89	0.49	0.33	0.36
Ground Model	0.78	0.58	0.57	0.47	0.88	0.62	0.64	0.59
n	n=105	n=105	n=105	n=315	n=105	n=105	n=105	n=315

Conclusions

In this study, no one variable showed a strong relationship across all clip times or species. This was expected due to differences in physiological appearance and growth stage. Models were developed for each species and clip time to better predict forage yield using multiple variables. In some cases, the models did improve the R² substantially, but in many cases, improvement was marginal. The ground model did as good as or better than the aerial model for wheat, oat, barley and the combined model, whereas the aerial model was far better for rye. There was little to no difference between the ground and aerial models for ryegrass. Transforming the data also had little effect on model accuracy for wheat, oat and barley. However, transforming the data for rye had a negative effect while ryegrass and the combined species model were improved when the data was transformed.

When individual species were combined across clip time wheat, oat, and barley had very poor results with both the ground and aerial models. This is a good indication that it would not be beneficial to evaluate wheat, oat and barley over the course of a growing season, but rather select the best clip time to conduct an evaluation for each species. When the original data for rye was evaluated across clip times, the aerial model produced good results with a significant improvement over the ground model. The best results for a combined clip time was the log transformed ryegrass aerial model. Interestingly there were very good results when all the species were combined across clip times, especially when using the transformed data for the ground model. This could be misleading as the rye and ryegrass may overcompensate for the poor combined results of the wheat, oat and barley. Due to the scatter and large RMSE of the overall combined model across clip time and species, it would be more useful to utilize a combined species model for a specific clip time than across clip times. The best-combined species clip time was in the fall when the transformed data was used for either the ground or aerial model. This would indicate that a combined species forage model would be fairly reliable in estimating forage yield early in the growing season, perhaps 60 days post emergence.

Both winter wheat and oat provided the best estimation of forage yield during the mid-winter (February) clip, which occurred after the first clipping and prior to stem elongation, but even then, results suggest it may not be good enough for reliable prediction of actual yield if trying to select the top performing line or entry in a forage trial. For both species, the ground model, which utilized only the visual rating, was best and log transforming the data only made a slight improvement over the original data. Forage biomass analysis of rye had good results throughout the season with the original data for the aerial method. Although correlations between yield and plant height alone were good for individual clip times throughout the season, the combined clip was poor. This could be attributed to the plants growth pattern progression throughout the growing season. Early in the season the plant growth focuses on vegetative stage and as the season progresses the plant growth moves into a reproductive growth pattern. Plant height is affected by this occurrence in that most of the forage for a plant during the vegetative growth period would be located throughout the plant in which plant height would be a good indicator of forage potential. However, as the plant moves into the

reproductive phase more energy is focused on seed production in which the plant would remain tall but not have a tremendous amount of forage in the lower to mid canopy. Interestingly when rye plant height was combined with RG VI the result produced a model with a relatively low RMSE and high R² value across clips.

Ryegrass had the most noticeable improvement when the data was log transformed, which made the data more linear. Ryegrass is slow to establish in the fall and does not produce a large amount of forage until later in the winter or spring. Consequently, the best time of the year to evaluate ryegrass was in the fall before canopy closure, which is ideal for reflectance measurements such as NDVI and other VIs, before images become saturated. However, the ryegrass models continued to perform well in later cuts likely due to higher amounts of red band reflectance compared to other species like wheat and oats. Combining plant height with MGRVI consistently improved aerial models for ryegrass as well. In fact, plant height showed up consistently in many of the models regardless of clip time or species. For barley, plant height and visual rating were most useful in estimating forage yield, particularly when combined in the late spring clip.

In general, rye and ryegrass showed much greater potential for producing reliable single species models that would work well across clip times. A single model using UAV spectral sensors could likely be used to estimate forage in the fall for all species if combined with plant height, but reliability will likely decline as the season progresses into the winter, and especially spring, using the techniques described in this study. The ground models using plant height and visual rating in general did a better job than the aerial models for individual species and clip times, particularly visual rating, indicating that a trained eye can reliability select high yielding lines or entries. However, this measurement is subjective, and will inevitably vary from person to person based on experience.

CHAPTER IV

CONCLUSIONS

Knowing the yield potential a particular forage species or cultivar has is useful for livestock managers who rely on good forage production to meet the high demands of their forage systems. It is also important for researchers in forage and small grains breeding programs to accurately measure forage potential for cultivar advancement. Some of the more traditional methods have been utilized for well over 50 years. Recently Texas A&M AgriLife Research has been making efforts to incorporate Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAV) into determining cool season annual forage biomass. These vehicles utilize remote sensing imagery to measure reflectance in order to obtain various vegetation indices. The purpose of this research was to determine if UAV technology or other ground-based sampling methods could replace traditional forage harvesting techniques to better assist cool-season annual grass breeders and researchers in estimating forage yield of entries in forage trials and breeding lines for advancement in breeding programs. Ideally, this would provide a low cost and effective method to measure above ground forage biomass.

The traditional method of evaluating a multi-species cool-season annual grass forage trial over several clippings throughout the year was completed over a two-year period. The individual methods used were plant height, visual score and a subsample method. The model created in this study using all three measurements was better at predicting forage yield across species and clip times than any individual method alone. However, the subsample method was consistently better than either visual rating or plant height measurements and would be the only acceptable stand-alone method for comparisons of entries across clip times and species. If researchers are unable to take destructive samples, both visual and plant height measurements were highly correlated for fall and late spring clips. Combining all measurements into one model to predict forage yield may be a better way to estimate forage yield if whole plot forage harvest is not possible.

Remote sensing methods of evaluating forage potential were applied to the 2017 forage trial through the use of UAVs (aerial method). No one variable showed a strong relationship across all clip times or species using the aerial method, so models were developed for each species and clip time to better predict forage yield using multiple variables. In some cases, the models did improve the R² values substantially, but in many cases, improvement was marginal. The ground model did as good or better than the aerial model for some species, but not all. Log transforming the data had mixed results and proved to be more useful to ryegrass and the combined model than to wheat, oat, barley and ultimately having a negative effect on rye.

This study has demonstrated that both ground and aerial methods can be useful in predicting forage yield of cool-season annual grasses, but may be specific to certain species or clip times. The best results for evaluating multi-species across clip times was the model produced using the ground measurements of visual rating, plant height and sub sample weight. This method is labor intensive; however; it does not require expensive plot harvesting equipment, which can be a major limitation to smaller forage breeding operations. The aerial method was equally as good at producing a combined

87

model for the fall clip, but was inferior to the ground model in subsequent clips. It seemed far better when evaluating multiple species in a forage trial to do so at specific times during the growing season as opposed to throughout the entire growing season. Regardless of ground or aerial models, the best time to evaluate a combined multispecies trial was during the fall clip, which is generally 45-60 days post emergence. If only a single species is being evaluated, researchers may want to use models on a caseby-case basis since correlations among measurements varied widely by clip time and species. If the main goal is to remain non-destructive, the best ground model provided modest results for winter wheat in the mid-winter and early spring clip times, mid-winter only for oats, and all three clip times for rye. The best ground model showed good potential for barley and ryegrass for all three clip times. The best aerial models rarely exceeded the potential of ground base models except for rye, and performed similarly for ryegrass (all clips), wheat (mid-winter only), and barley (mid-winter only). The best results from a remote sensing platform were obtained for ryegrass. Depending on the researches resources and goals, forage evaluation on either a multi or single species forage trial could be obtained at a low cost and with minimal labor.

REFERENCES

- Ackerman, C.J., Purvis, H.T., Horn, G.W., Payton, M.E., Vermeire, L.T., Paisley, S.I. and Bodine, T.N., 1999. Estimation of forage mass of Old World bluestem using a visual obstruction measurement technique. *Anim. Sci. Res. Rep*, 973, pp.194-199.
- Ag Marketing Resource Center (AGMRC). 2017. Triticale. Available at https://www.agmrc.org/commodities-products/grains-oilseeds/triticale/ (verified 23 January 2018).
- Alheit, K.V., Busemeyer, L., Liu, W., Maurer, H.P., Gowda, M., Hahn, V., Weissmann, S., Ruckelshausen, A., Reif, J.C. and Würschum, T., 2014. Multiple-line cross QTL mapping for biomass yield and plant height in triticale (× Triticosecale Wittmack). *Theoretical and applied genetics*, 127(1), pp.251-260.
- Amirshahi, M.C. and Patterson, F.L., 1956. Development of a Standard Artificial Freezing Technique for Evaluating Cold Resistance of Oats 1. Agronomy Journal, 48(4), pp.181-184.
- Andales, A.A., Derner, J.D., Ahuja, L.R. and Hart, R.H., 2006. Strategic and tactical prediction of forage production in northern mixed-grass prairie. *Rangeland Ecology* & *Management*, 59(6), pp.576-584.
- Anderson, G.L., Hanson, J.D. and Haas, R.H., 1993. Evaluating Landsat Thematic Mapper derived vegetation indices for estimating above-ground biomass on semiarid rangelands. *Remote sensing of environment*, 45(2), pp.165-175.
- Andersson, K., Trotter, M., Robson, A., Schneider, D., Frizell, L., Saint, A., Lamb, D. and Blore, C., 2017. Estimating pasture biomass with active optical sensors. *Advances in Animal Biosciences*, 8(2), p.754.
- Aparicio, N., Villegas, D., Araus, J.L., Casadesus, J. and Royo, C., 2002. Relationship between growth traits and spectral vegetation indices in durum wheat. *Crop science*, 42(5), pp.1547-1555.
- Araus, J.L. and Cairns, J.E., 2014. Field high-throughput phenotyping: the new crop breeding frontier. *Trends in plant science*, *19*(1), pp.52-61.
- Arnold, B.L., Watson, C.E. and Edwards, N.C., 1981. Registration of Marshall Annual Ryegrass1 (Reg. No. 72). *Crop Science*, *21*(3), pp.474-475.

- Atkins, I.M., O.G. Merkle, and P.E. Pawlisch. 1969. Visual estimates and clipping plot size for evaluating the forage potential of small grain varieties. Agron. J. 61: 88-91.
- Bagley, C.P., Feazel, J.I. and Koonce, K.L., 1988. Cool-season annual forage mixtures for grazing beef steers. *Journal of Production Agriculture*, 1(2), pp.149-152.
- Barker, R.E. and Kalton, R.R., 1989. Cool-Season Forage Grass Breeding: Progress, Potentials, and Benefits. *Contributions from breeding forage and turf grasses*, 15, pp.5-20.
- Bendig, J., Yu, K., Aasen, H., Bolten, A., Bennertz, S., Broscheit, J., Gnyp, M.L. and Bareth, G., 2015. Combining UAV-based plant height from crop surface models, visible, and near infrared vegetation indices for biomass monitoring in barley. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 39, pp.79-87.
- Bilgili, U., Cifci, E.A., Hanoglu, H., Yagdi, K. and Acikgoz, E., 2009. Yield and quality of triticale forage. *J Food Agric Environ*, 7, pp.556-560.
- Blount, A.R., and G.M. Prine. 2000. Annual Ryegrass. http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/pdffiles/AG/AG10400.pdfAvailable at http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/ (verified 23 January 2018).
- Boukerrou, L. and Rasmusson, D.D., 1990. Breeding for high biomass yield in spring barley. *Crop Science*, *30*(1), pp.31-35.
- Bouton, J., 2007. The economic benefits of forage improvement in the United States. *Euphytica*, 154(3), pp.263-270.
- Bransby, D.I., Matches, A.G. and Krause, G.F., 1977. Disk meter for rapid estimation of herbage yield in grazing trials 1. *Agronomy Journal*, 69(3), pp.393-396.
- Briggle, L.W., 1959. Growing rye (No. 2145). US Department of Agriculture.
- Brink, G.E. and Marten, G.C., 1986. Barley vs. Oat Companion Crops. I. Forage Yield and Quality Response during Alfalfa Establishment 1. *Crop science*, 26(5), pp.1060-1067.
- Brown, A.R. and Almodares, A., 1976. Quantity and Quality of Triticale Forage Compared to other Small Grains 1. *Agronomy Journal*, 68(2), pp.264-266.
- Bruckner, P. L., and P. L. Raymer. 1990. Factors influencing species and cultivar choice of small grains for winter forage. Journal of Production Agriculture 3.3 : 349-355.

- Carlson, T.N. and Ripley, D.A., 1997. On the relation between NDVI, fractional vegetation cover, and leaf area index. *Remote sensing of Environment*, 62(3), pp.241-252.
- Carr, P.M., Horsley, R.D. and Poland, W.W., 2004. Barley, oat, and cereal-pea mixtures as dryland forages in the northern Great Plains. *Agronomy Journal*, *96*(3), pp.677-684.
- Casler, M.D. and Vogel, K.P., 1999. Accomplishments and impact from breeding for increased forage nutritional value. *Crop Science*, 39(1), pp.12-20.
- Cherney, J.H. and Marten, G.C., 1982. Small Grain Crop Forage Potential: I. Biological and Chemical Determinants of Quality, and Yield 1. *Crop Science*, 22(2), pp.227-231.
- Choi, G.J., Rim, Y.W., Kim, K.Y., Choi, S.H., Sung, B.R., Kim, W.H., Shin, D.E. and Lim, Y.C., 2000. A cold-tolerant and high-yielding Italian ryegrass (Lolium multiflorum L.) new variety" Hwasan 101". *Journal of the Korean Society of Grassland Science*, 20(1), pp.1-6.
- Choi, G.J., Ji, H.C., Kim, K.Y., Park, H.S., Seo, S., Lee, K.W. and Lee, S.H., 2011. Growth characteristics and productivity of cold-tolerant "Kowinearly" Italian ryegrass in the northern part of South Korea. *African Journal of biotechnology*, 10(14), pp.2676-2682.
- Ciha, A.J., 1983. Forage Production of Triticale Relative to Other Spring Grains 1. *Agronomy Journal*, 75(4), pp.610-613.
- "College Station, TX Weather History star_ratehome." *Weather Underground*, www.wunderground.com/history/monthly/us/tx/college-station/KCLL/date/2017-5.
- Collins, M., Brinkman, M.A. and Salman, A.A., 1990. Forage yield and quality of oat cultivars with increasing rates of nitrogen fertilization. *Agronomy Journal*, 82(4), pp.724-728.
- Contreras-Govea, F.E. and Albrecht, K.A., 2006. Forage production and nutritive value of oat in autumn and early summer. *Crop science*, 46(6), pp.2382-2386.
- Corriher-Olson, V. and Redmon, L.A., 2015. Forage species for Texas. Tex. Agric. Ext. Rep. SCS-2015-01.
- Cuomo, G.J., Redfearn, D.D., Beatty, J.F., Anders, R.A., Martin, F.B. and Blouin, D.C., 1999. Management of warm-season annual grass residue on annual ryegrass establishment and production. *Agronomy journal*, *91*(4), pp.666-671.

- Dadhwal, V.K. and Sridhar, V.N., 1997. A non-linear regression form for vegetation index-crop yield relation incorporating acquisition date normalization. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 18(6), pp.1403-1408.
- DJI. Phantom 4 multi rotor drone. Shenzhen, China. Available at: <u>https://www.dji.com/phantom-4</u>.
- Duncan, S., D. Fjell, and G. Kuhl. GRAZING WHEAT PASTURE Available at https://www.asi.k-state.edu/doc/forage/fora23.pdf (verified 23 January 2018).
- Dunphy, D.J., McDaniel, M.E. and Holt, E.C., 1982. Effect of Forage Utilization on Wheat Grain Yield 1. *Crop Science*, 22(1), pp.106-109.
- Elarab, M., Ticlavilca, A.M., Torres-Rua, A.F., Maslova, I. and McKee, M., 2015. Estimating chlorophyll with thermal and broadband multispectral high resolution imagery from an unmanned aerial system using relevance vector machines for precision agriculture. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 43, pp.32-42.
- Fernandez, M.G.S., Becraft, P.W., Yin, Y. and Lübberstedt, T., 2009. From dwarves to giants? Plant height manipulation for biomass yield. *Trends in plant science*, 14(8), pp.454-461.
- Filella, I. and Penuelas, J., 1994. The red edge position and shape as indicators of plant chlorophyll content, biomass and hydric status. *International journal of remote sensing*, *15*(7), pp.1459-1470.
- Flynn, E.S., Dougherty, C.T. and Wendroth, O., 2008. Assessment of pasture biomass with the normalized difference vegetation index from active ground-based sensors. *Agronomy Journal*, *100*(1), pp.114-121.
- Freeman, K.W., Girma, K., Arnall, D.B., Mullen, R.W., Martin, K.L., Teal, R.K. and Raun, W.R., 2007. By-plant prediction of corn forage biomass and nitrogen uptake at various growth stages using remote sensing and plant height. Agronomy Journal, 99(2), pp.530-536.
- Fricke, T., Richter, F. and Wachendorf, M., 2011. Assessment of forage mass from grassland swards by height measurement using an ultrasonic sensor. *Computers and electronics in agriculture*, 79(2), pp.142-152.
- Golzarian, M.R. and Frick, R.A., 2011. Classification of images of wheat, ryegrass and brome grass species at early growth stages using principal component analysis. *Plant Methods*, 7(1), p.28.

- Goward, S.N., Tucker, C.J. and Dye, D.G., 1985. North American vegetation patterns observed with the NOAA-7 advanced very high resolution radiometer. *Vegetatio*, *64*(1), pp.3-14.
- Haldrup Field Research. Ilshofen, Germany. Available at: <u>http://www.haldrup.net/en/</u> (Verified September 10, 2020)
- Hancock, D.W., Lacy, R.C. and Stewart Jr, R.L., 2011. Forage systems for stocker cattle.
- Hansen, P.M. and Schjoerring, J.K., 2003. Reflectance measurement of canopy biomass and nitrogen status in wheat crops using normalized difference vegetation indices and partial least squares regression. *Remote sensing of environment*, 86(4), pp.542-553.
- Harris Corporation. ENVI Software. Melbourne, Flordia. Available at: https://www.harris.com/solution/envi (Verified September 10, 2020)
- Harmoney, K.R., Moore, K.J., George, J.R., Brummer, E.C. and Russell, J.R., 1997. Determination of pasture biomass using four indirect methods. *Agronomy Journal*, 89(4), pp.665-672.
- Hay, R.K.M. and Al-Ani, M.A., 1983. The physiology of forage rye (Secale cereale). *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, *101*(1), pp.63-70.
- Haydock, K.P. and Shaw, N.H., 1975. The comparative yield method for estimating dry matter yield of pasture. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, *15*(76), pp.663-670.
- Heeney, M.W. and Stanton, T., 1988. Grazing wheat pasture. *Service in action; no. 1.603.*
- Hill, G.M., Gates, R.N. and Gomide, J.A., 2001. Spring regrowth and steer performance on Tifton 85 and Coastal bermudagrass pastures following sod-seeding with ryegrass. *Proc. Int. Grsasl. Congr.*, 19th, Piracicaba, Sao Paulo, Brazil. 10–21 Feb. 2001, pp.823-824.
- Hobbs, T.J., 1995. The use of NOAA-AVHRR NDVI data to assess herbage production in the arid rangelands of Central Australia. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, *16*(7), pp.1289-1302.
- Holt, Ethan C. "Growth Behavior and Management of Small Grains for Forage 1." *Agronomy Journal* 54, no. 3 (1962): 272-275.
- Hossain, I., Epplin, F.M. and Krenzer, E.G., 2003. Planting date influence on dualpurpose winter wheat forage yield, grain yield, and test weight. *Agronomy Journal*, 95(5), pp.1179-1188.

- Ibrahim, A.M., Herrington, R., Sutton, R., Simoneaux, B., Harrison, S.A., Blount, A.R., Murphy, P., Barnett, R.D., Mason, E., Babar, M.A. and Duncan, R.W., 2018. Registration of 'TAMO 411'Oat. Journal of Plant Registrations, 12(2), pp.186-189.
- International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium, 2014. A chromosome-based draft sequence of the hexaploid bread wheat (Triticum aestivum) genome. *Science*, *345*(6194).
- Kallenbach, R.L., Bishop-Hurley, G.J., Massie, M.D., Kerley, M.S. and Roberts, C.A., 2003. Stockpiled annual ryegrass for winter forage in the lower Midwestern USA. *Crop science*, 43(4), pp.1414-1419.
- Kim, K.S., Tinker, N.A. and Newell, M.A., 2014. Improvement of oat as a winter forage crop in the Southern United States. *Crop Science*, *54*(4), pp.1336-1346.
- King, S.R. and Bacon, R.K., 1992. Vernalization requirement of winter and spring oat genotypes. *Crop science*, *32*(3), pp.677-680.
- Lacefield, G., Collins, M., Henning, J., Phillips, T., Rasnake, M., Spitaleri, R., Girgson, D. and Turner, K., 2003. Annual ryegrass. *Lexington, KY: Kentucky Cooperative Extension Service AGR-179*.
- Lamb, D.W., Steyn-Ross, M., Schaare, P., Hanna, M.M., Silvester, W. and Steyn-Ross, A., 2002. Estimating leaf nitrogen concentration in ryegrass (Lolium spp.) pasture using the chlorophyll red-edge: theoretical modelling and experimental observations. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 23(18), pp.3619-3648.
- Lawley, Y.E., Weil, R.R. and Teasdale, J.R., 2011. Forage radish cover crop suppresses winter annual weeds in fall and before corn planting. *Agronomy Journal*, 103(1), pp.137-144.
- LDP. 2015. NDVI History. Brief historyAvailable at https://maxmax.com/ndv_historyi.htm (verified 23 January 2018).
- Ledbetter, K. 2017. Researchers: Barley is ideal for cool-season cattle grazing. High Plains JournalAvailable at http://www.hpj.com/livestock/researchers-barley-is-ideal-for-cool-season-cattle-grazing/article_40ecd250-75bd-5df6-9a20-04b19163e14d.html (verified 23 January 2018).
- Lia, A., Hallmans, G., Sandberg, A.S., Sundberg, B., Aman, P. and Andersson, H., 1995. Oat beta-glucan increases bile acid excretion and a fiber-rich barley fraction increases cholesterol excretion in ileostomy subjects. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 62(6), pp.1245-1251.

- Liu, T., Li, R., Zhong, X., Jiang, M., Jin, X., Zhou, P., Liu, S., Sun, C. and Guo, W., 2018. Estimates of rice lodging using indices derived from UAV visible and thermal infrared images. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 252, pp.144-154.
- López-Granados, F., Torres-Sánchez, J., Serrano-Pérez, A., de Castro, A.I., Mesas-Carrascosa, F.J. and Pena, J.M., 2016. Early season weed mapping in sunflower using UAV technology: variability of herbicide treatment maps against weed thresholds. *Precision Agriculture*, 17(2), pp.183-199.
- Lussem, U., Bolten, A., Gnyp, M.L., Jasper, J. and Bareth, G., 2018. Evaluation of RGB-based vegetation indices from UAV imagery to estimate forage yield in grassland. *ISPRS—Int. Arch. Photogramm. Remote Sens. Spat. Inf. Sci*, 42(3), pp.1215-1219.
- Lussem, U., Hollberg, J., Menne, J., Schellberg, J. and Bareth, G., 2017. Using calibrated RGB imagery from low-cost UAVs for grassland monitoring: Case study at the Rengen Grassland Experiment (RGE), Germany. *The International Archives* of Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, 42, p.229.
- Mader, T.L., Horn, G.W., Phillips, W.A. and McNew, R.W., 1983. Low quality roughages for steers grazing wheat pasture. I. Effect on weight gains and bloat. *Journal of Animal Science*, *56*(5), pp.1021-1028.
- Mailhot, D. et al 2018. Georgia 2017-2018 Small Grain Performance Tests. Annual Publication 100-10 July 2018. The Georgia Agricultural Experiment Station University of Georgia. Griffin (Verified September 10, 2020)
- Maloney, T.S., Oplinger, E.S. and Albrecht, K.A., 1999. Small grains for fall and spring forage. *Journal of production agriculture*, *12*(3), pp.488-494.
- Marcussen, T., Sandve, S.R., Heier, L., Spannagl, M., Pfeifer, M., Jakobsen, K.S., Wulff, B.B., Steuernagel, B., Mayer, K.F., Olsen, O.A. and International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium, 2014. Ancient hybridizations among the ancestral genomes of bread wheat. *science*, 345(6194).
- Martin, R.C., Astatkie, T., Cooper, J.M. and Fredeen, A.H., 2005. A comparison of methods used to determine biomass on naturalized swards. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science, 191(2), pp.152-160.
- Microsoft: Excel. Redmond, Washington. Available at: <u>https://products.office.com/en-us/excel?legRedir=true&CorrelationId=6d2a4cbb-f760-42e8-971b-4047c9a5824e&rtc=1</u> (Verified September 10, 2020)

- Microsoft: Image Composite Editor. Redmond, Washington. Available at: <u>https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/research/product/computational-photography-applications/image-composite-editor/</u> (Verified September 10, 2020)
- Min, D.-H. 2012. Using small grains for forage. MSU ExtensionAvailable at http://msue.anr.msu.edu/news/using_small_grains_for_forage (verified 23 January 2018).
- Monteiro, F., Vidigal, P., Barros, A.B., Monteiro, A., Oliveira, H.R. and Viegas, W., 2016. Genetic distinctiveness of rye in situ accessions from Portugal unveils a new hotspot of unexplored genetic resources. *Frontiers in plant science*, 7, p.1334.
- Motohka, T., Nasahara, K.N., Oguma, H. and Tsuchida, S., 2010. Applicability of greenred vegetation index for remote sensing of vegetation phenology. *Remote Sensing*, 2(10), pp.2369-2387.
- Mutanga, O. and Skidmore, A.K., 2004. Narrow band vegetation indices overcome the saturation problem in biomass estimation. *International journal of remote sensing*, *25*(19), pp.3999-4014.
- Neely, Clark, Hathcoat, D, Drake, D, Kimura, E, Ramirez, J, Berry, M, Ibrahim, A, Rudd, J, Smith, G, Sutton, R, Baker, J, Simoneaux, B, Opena, G, Devkota, R, Baker, S. 2016. 2016 Texas Cool-Season Annual Forage Results. SCSC-2016-23.Texas AgriLife Extention,.College station.
- Nevo, E. and Chen, G., 2010. Drought and salt tolerances in wild relatives for wheat and barley improvement. *Plant, cell & environment, 33*(4), pp.670-685.
- Newell, M.A. and Butler, T.J., 2013. Forage rye improvement in the southern United States: a review. *Crop Science*, *53*(1), pp.38-47.
- Oelke, E.A., E.S. Oplinger, and M.A. Brinkman. 1989. Triticale. Alternative Field Crops ManualAvailable at https://hort.purdue.edu/newcrop/afcm/triticale.html (verified 23 January 2018).
- Panda, S.S., Ames, D.P. and Panigrahi, S., 2010. Application of vegetation indices for agricultural crop yield prediction using neural network techniques. *Remote Sensing*, 2(3), pp.673-696.
- Peña, J.M., Torres-Sánchez, J., Serrano-Pérez, A., De Castro, A.I. and López-Granados, F., 2015. Quantifying efficacy and limits of unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) technology for weed seedling detection as affected by sensor resolution. *Sensors*, 15(3), pp.5609-5626.
- Pfeifer, R.P. and Kline, J.P., 1960. A Major Cause of Winterkill of Winter Oats 1. *Agronomy Journal*, 52(11), pp.621-623.
- Possoch, M., Bieker, S., Hoffmeister, D., Bolten, A., Schellberg, J. and Bareth, G., 2016. Multi-temporal crop surface models combined with the RGB vegetation index from UAV-based images for forage monitoring in grassland. *The International Archives* of Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, 41, p.991.
- Prabhakara, K., Hively, W.D. and McCarty, G.W., 2015. Evaluating the relationship between biomass, percent groundcover and remote sensing indices across six winter cover crop fields in Maryland, United States. *International journal of applied earth observation and geoinformation*, *39*, pp.88-102.
- Rabinowitch, E.I., 1965. The role of chlorophyll in photosynthesis. *Scientific American*, *213*(1), pp.74-83.
- Ramos, J.M., Garcia del Moral, M.B., Marinetto, J. and Garcia del Moral, L.F., 1993. Sowing date and cutting frequency effects on triticale forage and grain production. *Crop science*, 33(6), pp.1312-1315.
- Redfearn, D.D. and Bidwell, T.G., 2003. Stocking rate: The key to successful livestock production.
- Redfearn, D.D., Venuto, B.C., Pitman, W.D., Alison, M.W. and Ward, J.D., 2002. Cultivar and environment effects on annual ryegrass forage yield, yield distribution, and nutritive value. *Crop Science*, 42(6), pp.2049-2054.
- Redmon, L.A. 2003. Developing & Using A Forage System. Texas Forages Available at http://forages.tamu.edu/PDF/scs2003-08.pdf (verified 23 January 2018).
- Redmon, L.A., Horn, G.W., Krenzer Jr, E.G. and Bernardo, D.J., 1995. A review of livestock grazing and wheat grain yield: Boom or bust?. *Agronomy Journal*, 87(2), pp.137-147.
- Redmon, L.A., Baker, J.L. and Krenzer Jr, E.G., 1998. Cool-season annual forage grasses. *OSU Extension Facts F-2571. Stillwater (OK): Oklahoma Cooperative Extension Service, DASNR, Oklahoma State University.*
- Riday, H., 2009. Correlations between visual biomass scores and forage yield in space planted red clover (Trifolium pratense L.) breeding nurseries. *Euphytica*, *170*(3), pp.339-345.
- Roberts, J.R., Peeper, T.F. and Solie, J.B., 2001. Wheat (Triticum aestivum) row spacing, seeding rate, and cultivar affect interference from rye (Secale cereale) 1. *Weed Technology*, *15*(1), pp.19-25.

- Rohila, J.S., Jain, R.K. and Wu, R., 2002. Genetic improvement of Basmati rice for salt and drought tolerance by regulated expression of a barley Hva1 cDNA. *Plant Science*, *163*(3), pp.525-532.
- Rudd, J.C., Devkota, R.N., Fritz, A.K., Baker, J.A., Obert, D.E., Worrall, D., Sutton, R., Rooney, L.W., Nelson, L.R., Weng, Y. and Morgan, G.D., 2012. Registration of 'TAM 401'wheat. Journal of Plant Registrations, 6(1), pp.60-65.
- Sanderson, M. A., Rotz, C. A., Fultz, S. W., & Rayburn, E. B. 2001.Estimating forage mass with a commercial capacitance meter, rising plate meter, and pasture ruler. Agronomy Journal 93.6 : 1281-1286.
- Santillan, Raul A., W. R. Ocumpaugh, and G. O. Mott. 1979. Estimating forage yield with a disk meter. Agronomy Journal 71.1 : 71-74.
- Santin-Janin, H., Garel, M., Chapuis, J.L. and Pontier, D., 2009. Assessing the performance of NDVI as a proxy for plant biomass using non-linear models: a case study on the Kerguelen archipelago. *Polar Biology*, *32*(6), pp.861-871.
- SAS Institue Inc. Cary, North Carolina. Available at: https://www.sas.com/en_us/home.html.(varified 15 April 15, 2020)
- Schepers, J.S., Blackmer, T.M., Wilhelm, W.W. and Resende, M., 1996. Transmittance and reflectance measurements of cornleaves from plants with different nitrogen and water supply. *Journal of plant physiology*, 148(5), pp.523-529.
- Schrickel, D.J., Burrows, V.D. and Ingemansen, J.A., 1992. Harvesting, storing, and feeding of oat. *Oat science and technology*, *33*, pp.223-245.
- Serrano, L., Filella, I. and Penuelas, J., 2000. Remote sensing of biomass and yield of winter wheat under different nitrogen supplies. *Crop science*, 40(3), pp.723-731.
- Smith, D., 1960. Yield and Chemical Composition of Oats for Forage with Advance in Maturity 1. *Agronomy Journal*, 52(11), pp.637-639.
- Snapp, S.S., Swinton, S.M., Labarta, R., Mutch, D., Black, J.R., Leep, R., Nyiraneza, J. and O'neil, K., 2005. Evaluating cover crops for benefits, costs and performance within cropping system niches. *Agronomy journal*, 97(1), pp.322-332.
- Stichler, C. and Livingston, S., 1998. Managing annual winter grasses in south and southwest Texas. Texas Agricultural Extension Service, Texas A & M University System.
- Stuthman, D.D. and Marten, G.C., 1972. Genetic Variation in Yield and Quality of Oat Forage 1. *Crop science*, *12*(6), pp.831-833.

- Swain, K.C., Thomson, S.J. and Jayasuriya, H.P., 2010. Adoption of an unmanned helicopter for low-altitude remote sensing to estimate yield and total biomass of a rice crop. *Transactions of the ASABE*, 53(1), pp.21-27.
- Syngenta. Basel, Switzerland. Available at: <u>https://www.syngenta.com/</u>. (Verified 10 September 2020)
- Taylor, K.W., Epplin, F.M., Brorsen, B.W., Fieser, B.G. and Horn, G.W., 2010. Optimal grazing termination date for dual-purpose winter wheat production. *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*, 42(1379-2016-113586), pp.87-103.
- Terashima, I., Fujita, T., Inoue, T., Chow, W.S. and Oguchi, R., 2009. Green light drives leaf photosynthesis more efficiently than red light in strong white light: revisiting the enigmatic question of why leaves are green. *Plant and cell physiology*, 50(4), pp.684-697.
- Tilly, N., Aasen, H. and Bareth, G., 2015. Fusion of plant height and vegetation indices for the estimation of barley biomass. *Remote Sensing*, 7(9), pp.11449-11480.
- Torres-Sánchez, J., Pena, J.M., de Castro, A.I. and López-Granados, F., 2014. Multitemporal mapping of the vegetation fraction in early-season wheat fields using images from UAV. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, *103*, pp.104-113.
- Trimble. GreenSeeker handheld crop sensor. Sunnyvale, California. Available at: <u>http://www.trimble.com/Agriculture/gs-handheld.aspx?tab=Product_Overview</u> (Verified 10 September 2020)
- Trolove, M.R. and Shorten, P., 2019. Comparison of four off-the-shelf unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) and two photogrammetry programmes for monitoring pasture and cropping field trials. *New Zealand Plant Protection*, 72, pp.185-194.
- TUCKER, C.J., 1980. A critical review of remote sensing and other methods for nondestructive estimation of standing crop biomass. *Grass and Forage Science*, *35*(3), pp.177-182.
- Ud-Din, N., Carver, B.F. and Krenzer Jr, E.G., 1993. Visual selection for forage yield in winter wheat. *Crop science*, 33(1), pp.41-45.
- United States Department of Agriculture- National Agriculture Statistics Service. 2020. 2017 Census Volume1, Chapter1: U.S. National Level Data. Available at: <u>https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2017/Full_Report/Volume_1,_C</u> <u>hapter_1_US/usv1.pdf</u> (Verified 11 September 2020)
- United States Department of Agriculture- National Agriculture Statistics Service. 2020. 2017 Census Volume1, Chapter1: U.S. National Level Data. Available at:

<u>https://www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2017/Full_Report/Volume_1,_C</u> <u>hapter_1_US/usv1.pdf</u> (Verified 11 September 2020)

- United States Department of Agriculture-Natural Resources Conservation Service- Soil Survey. 2018. Online Web Soil Survey. Available at: <u>https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/soils/survey/</u>(Verified 9 February 2020)
- Vendramini, J., Evers, G.W. and Redmon, L., 2006. Annual winter pastures for East Texas. *Texas Cooperative Extension*.
- Venuto, B.C., 1999. Performance of cool-season annual forage crops in Louisiana, 1998-1999.
- Wilm, H.G., Costello, D.F. and Klipple, G.E., 1944. Estimating Forage Yield by the Double-Sampling Method 1. *Agronomy Journal*, *36*(3), pp.194-203.
- Woebbecke, D.M., Meyer, G.E., Von Bargen, K. and Mortensen, D.A., 1995. Color indices for weed identification under various soil, residue, and lighting conditions. *Transactions of the ASAE*, *38*(1), pp.259-269.
- Wood, C.W., Reeves, D.W. and Himelrick, D.G., 1993. Relationships between chlorophyll meter readings and leaf chlorophyll concentration, N status, and crop yield: a review. In *Proceedings of the Agronomy Society of New Zealand* (Vol. 23, pp. 1-9).
- Zarco-Hernandez, J.A., Santiveri, F., Michelena, A. and Peña, R.J., 2005. Durum wheat (Triticum turgidum, L.) carrying the 1BL/1RS chromosomal translocation: agronomic performance and quality characteristics under Mediterranean conditions. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 22(1), pp.33-43.

APPENDIX A

Appendix 2.1. Timing and grouping of forage clips from a cool-season annual grass forage trial conducted in College Station, TX across the 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 growing seasons.

Time of Year

Clipping Date	FALL	MID	EARLY	LATE
		WINTER	SPRING	SPRING
January 19, 2016		Х		
March 28, 2016			Х	
April 26, 2016				Х
November 30, 2016	Х			
February 8, 2017		Х		
March 3, 2017			Х	